Impact of Tailored Messages to Change Towards a Plant-Based Diet:

Media Effects, Behavioral Change and Practical Implications

A thesis presented to

the faculty of

the Scripps College of Communication of Ohio University and the Institute for Communication and Media Studies of Leipzig University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degrees

Master of Science in Journalism (Ohio University),

Master of Arts in Global Mass Communication (Leipzig University)

Lena Wiemer

August 2018

© 2018 Lena Wiemer. All Rights Reserved.

This thesis titled

Impact of Tailored Messages to Change Towards a Plant-Based Diet:

Media Effects, Behavioral Change and Practical Implications

by

LENA WIEMER

has been approved for

the E.W. Scripps School of Journalism,

the Scripps College of Communication,

and the Institute for Communication and Media Studies by

Anne Bartsch

Professor, Institute for Communication and Media Studies, Leipzig University

Scott Titsworth

Dean, Scripps College of Communication, Ohio University

Christian Pieter Hoffman

Director, Institute for Communication and Media Studies, Leipzig University

Abstract

WIEMER, LENA, M.S., Journalism; M.A., Global Mass Communication, August 2018

3726400

Impact of Tailored Messages to Change towards a Plant-Based Diet: Media Effects, Behavioral Change and Practical Implications

Director of Thesis: Anne Bartsch

Committee Members: Parul Jain, Alexander Godulla

Convincing Western society of a "nutrition turnaround" towards more plant-based eating habits is imperative to save the planet and the health of society. Wiemer (2018) examined the media effects of tailored (to internal or external motivations) video messages on people's progress and intention to change towards a plant-based, vegan diet.

Consistent with her hypotheses, participants' intention, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation to follow a plant-based, vegan diet was positively strengthened by watching a tailored intervention message. Pro-vegan advocacy journalists and NGO campaigners are therefore advised to tailor the content of their provegan communication to appeal more effectively to narrower target groups. However, they can better affect their audiences' attitudes and perceived social pressure through campaigns that integrate veganism into everyday life and turn it into a socially accepted and desired behavior over time. Conceptualizing vegan eating habits as social practice, rather than a cognitive choice, opens up new approaches to intervention and advocating communication strategies.

Table of Contents

Page
Abstract
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Literature Review
What: Plant-Based, Vegan Diet - its Benefits and Beneficiaries5
Who: From Omnivores to Vegans - a Dietary Spectrum with Divergent Values9
Why: Internal and External Motivations Along the Dietary Spectrum
How: Bringing about Change Towards a Plant-Based, Vegan Diet21
For Whom: Advocacy Journalism and NGO Media Campaigns25
Chapter 3: Theoretical Background
Stages of Change in the Transtheoretical Model32
The Theory of Planned Behavior35
Chapter 4: Overview of Study Design and Results
Study Design42
Participants
Results45
Chapter 5: Practical Implications for Communicators
From Health Campaigns to Media Advocacy52
Suggested Actions for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners55
Further Learnings for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners59
Additional Tailoring Options for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners63
Chapter 6: Criticism of Theoretical Approach
Successful Implementation of Behavior Change?67
Health Behavior as a Social Practice?70
Chapter 7: Conclusion
References

Chapter 1: Introduction

If people continue to eat like they eat today, we will need the resources of not one but three earths to feed the world's population in 2050 (Bethge, Glüsing & Zand, 2017). Changing our modern day, lavish Western diet heavy in meat and animal products will become inevitable if we want to save this planet and its climate. For Germany alone, such a "nutrition turnaround" would entail that 22 percent of Germans live as vegetarians and eight percent as vegans in 2050 (Wirz, Kasperczyk & Thomas, 2017). In 2016, only around 1.3 million Germans (1.6 percent of the population) stated to be vegan (SKOPOS). Although Germany has become the leading country in vegan food and drink product launches (Mintel, 2017), there are still millions of people left to be convinced of the benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet if this imperative nutrition turnaround is to occur in the near future.

So far, political inaction has left it up to environmental, animal or health activists to highlight the benefits and beneficiaries of veganism in their attempts to educate the public. Here, media representations of veganism spread through the communication channels of mass media come into play; for example, in the form of documentaries such as *Forks over Knives* (2011), *Cowspiracy* (2014), *Hope for All* (2016) and *What the Health* (2017). These documentaries advocate for the vegan cause by applying journalistic standards to their research and objectively investigating injustice, corruption or ill-treatment with the goal to educate and inform people. They portray plant-based eating in a positive light and as a possible solution to many health and environmental problems we face as a global society nowadays. Their titles come up strikingly often in

conversations in the vegan community as a "turning point" or cue to action for people who turned to a plant-based, vegan diet after watching one of them (cf. Guerin, 2014, Nutriciously, 2016).

The documented, striking media effect of these documentaries on people's intention to change their dietary behavior deserves closer examination. In an online experiment, Wiemer (2018) examined the media effect of tailored messages created from these documentaries on a person's progress and intention to change towards a plant-based, vegan diet. The study investigated if the challenges of persuasive communication can be mastered more effectively when the content of an advocating message is specifically tailored towards its recipient. The tailoring was based on diverging motivational forces (either internally or externally focused) that might inform someone's intention to change towards a plant-based, vegan diet. The overarching purpose of the study was to measure if tailoring caused a potential positive shift in participants' progress of change as well as a positive influence on predictors of behavioral change towards following a plant-based, vegan diet.

Since the plant-based, vegan movement has turned into a global necessity on our way into a sustainable future, media effects research as done by Wiemer (2018) becomes increasingly relevant. Journalistic media representations about veganism have not yet received any extensive attention in communication studies or journalism so far. Research on vegetarianism and veganism has concentrated mostly in the fields of nutrition and food sciences or social studies (e.g., Beardsworth & Keil, 1991, Lea & Worsley, 2003a, 2003b, Fox & Ward, 2008, Greenebaum, 2012a, Radnitz, Beezhold & DiMatteo, 2015).

Since Wiemer (2018) explored a completely new area of research in communication about plant-based nutrition, the purpose of this thesis is to elaborate and broaden the discussion of her findings. In her thesis, she already indicated implications for future pro-vegan intervention designs in general. Hence, this thesis will take a step further and apply her findings to discuss practical implications for pro-vegan advocacy journalism and NGO media campaigns. Overall, this can contribute to the professionalization of communicative actions taken to persuade people to shift towards a more plant-based, vegan diet. Moreover, this thesis will explore the limitations of Wiemer's theoretical approach. Her conceptualization of behavior change as a change in cognitions is not the only possible option, since it can be strongly argued that behaviors and habits are just as much social practices influenced by habit and society.

In recent years, it has become apparent that the plant-based, vegan movement is not a mere fleeting trend but a global necessity for a healthy planet and a thriving, globally connected society. This thesis will contribute insights into how the media can take a more reflected, effective and responsible part in informing and fostering a plantbased, vegan world.

The next chapter is dedicated to a comprehensive review about the literature Wiemer (2018) based her study on. It will discuss the benefits and beneficiaries of veganism, an exploration of values and motivations along the dietary spectrum from omnivores to vegans, and the use of tailored communication messages as cues to action. Chapter 3 will elaborate on the theoretical background of Wiemer's study. In Chapter 4, Wiemer's study design is explained and her results are presented briefly. The fifth chapter will explore practical implications and recommendations for actions that provegan journalists and NGO media campaigners could take in the light of Wiemer's findings. The sixth chapter will contain a two-part criticism of her theoretical approach, and the seventh chapter is dedicated to a brief conclusion.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter will discuss the existing research in the food and nutrition sciences, social sciences and health communication sciences in order to answer the What, Who, Why and How questions of the experiment conducted by Wiemer (2018). An introduction to the subject matter of plant-based, vegan eating (What?) is followed by an overview of the dietary spectrum people can be identified on (Who?). Then, distinctions in motivation, as the most important factor in changing to and maintaining a non-conforming diet like veganism, are highlighted (Why?) and applied to a possible approach to set up tailored intervention messages as cues to change towards a plant-based, vegan diet (How?). Finally, an introduction into advocacy journalism and advocacy media campaigns will highlight which communicators could benefit from the insights of Wiemer's study (For whom?).

What: Plant-Based, Vegan Diet - its Benefits and Beneficiaries

The German Society of Nutrition defines a plant-based, vegan diet as a "form of a vegetarian diet where people only eat plant-based foods. All animal-based foods and additives are refused, sometimes honey and other foods which use animal-based parts in their production, too" (DGE, 2016). This type of diet can create personal health benefits as well as contribute to saving the planet's resources and stopping animal suffering in mass livestock farming.

First, studies have proven that omitting meat and animal products from one's diet can improve one's overall health (Campbell & Campbell, 2007). Vegans and vegetarians who follow a healthy, plant-based diet that includes "whole grains as the main form of

carbohydrate, unsaturated fats as the predominate form of dietary fat, an abundance of fruit and vegetables, and adequate n-3 fatty acids" (Williams & Patel, 2017, p. 424) show a lower mortality rate (Appleby et al., 1999), have lower risks of suffering from diabetes (Tonstad et al., 2009, Satija et al., 2016), coronary heart disease (Satija et al., 2017), or high blood pressure (Pettersen et al., 2012). Moreover, people who choose not to consume meat are 16 percent less likely to get any type of cancer, and 34 percent less likely of being diagnosed with a female-specific cancer (Tantamango-Bartley et al., 2012). People who follow a plant-based diet because they want to improve their health also report leading healthier lives in general (with regular exercise and minimal alcohol or smoking practices) that further lower their risks for diseases (Dyett et al., 2013). Obese participants in a dietary study who had to adhere to a vegetarian or completely plantbased diet lost significantly more weight and decreased their cholesterol intake further than participants on other diets (Moore, McGrievy & Turner-McGrievy, 2015). However, one possible area of concern for a plant-based, vegan diet can be a lacking vitamin and mineral intake of calcium, iodine, and vitamin B12 (Waldmann et al., 2003).

The documentaries *Forks over Knives*, *Hope for All*, and *What the Health* illustrate the positive results of numerous nutrition studies to bring across how beneficial a healthy, plant-based diet can be for people - especially in Western society that faces record numbers of chronic illnesses and obesity.

Second, animals kept in mass livestock farming suffer. They are solely bred and fattened to be killed for human needs of their meat, skin, feathers, eggs, or milk. In their drastically shortened lifespan, they have to endure suffering from birth on: ranging from being killed outright because they have the wrong sex or being separated from their mothers too early, to being held in too small spaces, leading a life in complete apathy, being fed the wrong food dosed with antibiotics, and finally being killed on an assembly line, often with improper anesthesia (Fleischatlas, 2018). Thus, people who decide to protest this cruel livestock industry choose not to buy meat or animal products as a way to express their protest. Their renouncement decreases the demand in meat and animal products and helps to reduce the number of animals being bred in the first place. Here, the animals are the main beneficiaries of vegan empathy: "The habit of meat avoidance is for many animal protectionists the single most important thing an individual can do for animals," as the empathy for animals "and vegetarianism are different sides of the same coin" (Munro, 2005, p. 88).

The documentaries *Cowspiracy* and *Hope for All* give insights into farms and slaughterhouses. They highlight the short and distressing lives of these animals in mass livestock farming and give information on how the capitalistic animal agriculture industry facilitates these conditions.

Third, research conclusively proves that large-scale livestock farming established to meet the global meat consumption is responsible for a whole range of environmental problems: it is incredibly draining on important resources such as water, fertile land, and energy, a major cause for forest decline and species extinction, as well as higher mortality rates in developing countries caused by food shortages due to droughts (Pimentel & Pimentel, 2003, Gerber et al., 2013, Springmann et al., 2016). Based on misconceptions and lack of information, climate change is most commonly associated with GHG emissions exhausted from coal plants or the transportation industry. When, in fact, mass livestock farming is responsible for 51 percent of annual worldwide emissions. It contributes more than any other industry (Goodland & Anhang, 2009). This fact is not as commonly known because respiration of livestock (animal breath), their land use, and methane emissions are often overlooked or miscounted in most GHG inventories. However, it is misguided to not include these emissions just because they stem from something seemingly as natural as animals, when "livestock (like automobiles) are a human invention and convenience, not a part of prehuman times, and a molecule of CO2 exhaled by livestock is no more natural than one from an auto tailpipe" (Goodland & Anhang, 2009, p. 12).

The international community, political leaders, private and public sectors, and academia have recognized the immediate danger of climate change to our lives on earth. However, they have so far largely refused to enact any greater policy changes for its biggest cause, mass livestock farming, although these changes could significantly help to mitigate the effects of climate change (Gerber et al., 2013, Fleischatlas, 2018).

Similar to vegans who refuse meat and animal products because of their concerns for animal welfare, vegans who refuse meat and animal products based on environmental concerns want to decrease the demand for mass livestock farming as one main contributor to environmental pollution. Thus, their lifestyle helps in lowering GHG emissions, saving water and other resources, as well as protecting the rain forest, for example. Ultimately, the planet benefits from increasing numbers of vegetarians and vegans living on it. That is why it is an integral part of Greenpeace's model of the future and its proposed "nutrition turnaround" as already mentioned in the introduction.

The documentaries *Cowspiracy* and *Hope for All* discuss these findings as a third area of concern, too. They translate the statistics of water waste, micro plastic in our oceans, and GHG emissions in our atmosphere into visual experiences by using actual footage of destroyed areas on the planet, animated graphics and illustrated comparisons from daily life.

Who: From Omnivores to Vegans - a Dietary Spectrum with Divergent Values

Possibly endless food choices in developed countries around the world have broadened the dietary spectrum and now allow room for flexibility and individuality. Simultaneously, daily food choices act as a form of self-realization and differentiation from other people: Some people vigorously defend their meat consumption. Some people consider themselves vegetarians even if they occasionally eat meat, others would classify these people as "flexitarians." Some people live strictly vegan and have a strong opinion on honey or medication tested on animals. Others choose a vegan diet that is more "doable" in daily life, allowing room for "gray areas" while stressing the fact that veganism is not a religious restriction but a voluntary lifestyle choice (Greenebaum, 2012a).

Wiemer (2018) stressed the importance to distinguish not only between meat eaters and meat avoiders but also between vegetarians (who still consume animal products apart from meat) and vegans, as both intervention messages in her study emphasized the benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet that also excludes animal products like milk, cheese, and eggs. As the following overview will show, values, characteristics and motivations between these diets starkly differ and can help to understand what issues intervention messages have to address to initiate change.

Omnivores and their attachment to meat. First, omnivores differ from vegetarians or vegans in their attitude towards animals and meat consumption: "Whereas omnivores have positive explicit and implicit attitudes toward meat, associating it primarily with luxury, status, taste, and good health, vegetarians tend to link meat with cruelty, killing, disgust, and poor health" (Ruby, 2012, p. 145). Especially men justify eating meat with "endorsing pro-meat attitudes, denying animal suffering, believing that animals are lower in a hierarchy than humans and that it is human fate to eat animals, and providing religious and health justifications" (Rothgerber, 2013, p. 363). People who enjoy eating meat and who are more attached to meat consumption in general are less inclined to consider a dietary change. They are likely to eat meat more often, feel social pressure to eat meat and identify strongly as meat eaters (Graça, Calheiros & Oliveira, 2015b).

Second, omnivores connect certain perceived benefits and barriers with adopting a vegetarian or plant-based, vegan diet. In general, people hold the most positive attitudes towards their own diet, and the most negative attitudes towards diets opposite to their own (Povey, Wellens & Connor, 2001). Omnivores indicate that the main perceived barriers to changing towards a plant-based, vegan diet is their meat enjoyment, established eating routines, and a lack of information about plant-based diets (Lea & Worsley, 2003a, Lea, Crawford & Worsley 2006). The main perceived benefits are increased health benefits such as increased fruit and vegetable intake, decreased fat intake, weight control, or disease prevention (Lea & Worsley, 2003a, Lea et al., 2006). The main predictors of these perceived health benefits are the belief that meat is not necessarily healthy and participants' own effort of researching information (Lea & Worsley, 2003b). If missing information is seen as a barrier to changing one's diet as well as a predictor to be informed about a plant-based diet's health benefits or not, it is imperative that an intervention message for dietary change towards a plant-based, vegan diet successfully conveys information about the benefits of such a diet.

Third, omnivores also harbor certain beliefs about vegetarian or vegan people in general. Ruby (2008) found that a person's judgement about another person is impacted by the fact if that person eats meat or not – even if all other information is held constant. Vegetarians are perceived to be "significantly more virtuous, idealistic, health conscious, likeable, disciplined, and pure than the omnivore targets" (Ruby, 2008, p. 29). Moreover, the perception of male vegetarians seems to have shifted over the last years. Where Ruby and Heine (2011) concluded that vegetarians are rated more virtuous but less masculine, Browarnik (2012) could not confirm these results. Thomas (2016) even detected a shift of prejudiced gender norms along the dietary spectrum towards veganism – "it is the choice to be vegan that leads to lower ratings of masculinity" (p. 85). Although vegetarians might be seen as more virtuous and likeable, vegans are often stigmatized for their rejection of the dominant nutrition culture and confronted with a range of prejudices about health concerns and lack of understanding for their self-imposed restrictions (Corrin & Papadopoulos, 2017). Cole and Morgan (2011) analyzed the general

marginalization of vegans in a qualitative content analysis of UK newspapers. They concluded that the derogation of veganism helps non-vegans to avoid confronting their ethical dilemma and helps to facilitate the normalization of human violence. In the media, vegans "are variously stereotyped as ascetics, faddists, sentimentalists, or in some cases, hostile extremists" leading towards a general "vegaphobia" that "misrepresents the experience of veganism" (ibd., 2011, p. 134).

Fourth, contradictory to the scientific proof cited in Chapter 2.1, meat consumption is still not perceived as the biggest contributor to climate change by omnivores. In focus groups and interviews in Scotland, omnivores lacked awareness of associating their meat consumption to climate change, perceived their personal meat consumption as only playing a very small role in the global problem of climate change, and remained hesitant to reduce their own pleasure of eating meat (Macdiarmid, Douglas & Campbell, 2016). Since the skepticism about a link between meat consumption and climate change persists, people perceive changing other behaviors not related to their diet as more important to stop global warming and as more feasible in their own life (ibd., 2016). In general, attachment to meat is negatively associated with willingness to reduce one's meat consumption for any cause (Graça et al., 2015b). If climate change is not yet commonly associated with meat consumption, it is imperative that intervention messages for dietary change towards a plant-based, vegan diet successfully and comprehensibly explain this connection.

Flexitarians and reduced meat consumption. The moral intensity of climate change does, however, seem to influence intentions of some people to make climate-

friendly food choices (Mäkiniemi & Vainio, 2013). They do not go as far as to eliminate meat completely from their diet in order to protect the environment but rather favor a reduced meat consumption (Graça, Oliveria & Calheiros, 2015a, Lea et al., 2006). These consumers who only eat meat once or twice a week and opt to buy the organic kind are called "flexitarians" or "conscientious omnivores." In recent years, they have gathered more attention as a new dietary behavior on the dietary spectrum. DeBacker and Hudders (2015) found that they differ in their attitude towards animal welfare from full omnivores. They are less focused on their status of authority over animals and are more concerned about animal welfare than omnivores, but still less so compared to vegetarians. In addition, Rothgerber (2015a, 2015b) compared conscientious omnivores to vegetarians and vegans and resumed that they rate lower in idealism, report to violate their diet more, and feel less guilty when doing so, are less likely to say that their diet is something that needs to be strictly adhered to, and do not identify as being in an in-group with vegetarians and vegans.

Cognitive dissonance and meat eating justification strategies. No matter if flexitarians or full omnivores, consumers who are somehow attached to meat experience cognitive dissonance when engaging with vegetarians/vegans or positive representations of plant-based eating in the media. It reminds them of the general "meat paradox" - omnivores usually want to treat animals well but like to eat them, too (Rothgerber, 2014c). In five separate studies, it was found that "vegetarians create in meat eaters emotional states such as anxiety and tension that are associated with the experience of cognitive dissonance" (ibd., 2014c, p. 39).

The *Theory of Cognitive Dissonance* by Leon Festinger (1957) argues that people can experience cognitive dissonance - an inconsistency between the knowledge of two elements in their environment or their beliefs. This dissonance creates pressure to reduce the imbalance and avoid new dissonance because people inherently seek a state of consistency in their beliefs. In order to reduce dissonance, people change their behavior or their beliefs, seek out new information, or try to change the environmental context if it lies in their power (Festinger, 1957).

Thus, meat eaters have two choices to reduce their cognitive dissonance, (1) they can change their behavior and switch towards a vegetarian or plant-based, vegan diet (consumers with a negative or neutral connection towards meat seem more inclined to do so), or (2) they can try to resolve this dissonance by relying on information and beliefs that accommodate their meat consumption – consumers with higher attachment towards meat tend to choose this route and resort to pro-meat justifications or a process of moral disengagement (Graça et al., 2015a).

Pro-meat justifications can take the following forms among others: "denying animals the capacity for pain, to denying their emotional and cognitive states, to endorsing pro-meat justifications, to reducing perceived choice in eating meat, and to the more apologetic underreporting of how much meat they consume" (Rothgerber, 2014c, p. 39). Moreover, women are more likely than men to employ indirect apologetic strategies such as avoiding thinking about what had happened to the animal before they eat it (ibd., 2013). They morally disengage and refuse to ascribe human emotions to them to "minimize the psychological costs of their own actions" (Bilewicz, Imhoff & Drogosz, 2011, p. 208). Wiemer (2018) examined the media effect of these pro-vegan intervention messages on reducing dissonance - if they awaken intentions to change diets or prompt participants to provide pro-meat justifications.

Vegetarians and their motivations. On the next step of the dietary spectrum, vegetarians omit meat from their diet, but still eat animal products such as milk, eggs, and cheese. The recent upward trend in numbers of vegetarians and the growing market for vegetarian and vegan products indicates that it is easier than ever to maintain a vegetarian diet. Vegetarians benefit if they have a strong social network of like-minded people around them and access to environmental resources like vegetarian products and cookbooks (Jabs, Devine & Sobal, 1998a).

Early on in research about vegetarianism, Jabs, Devine and Sobal (1998b) developed the distinction between "ethical vegetarians" and "health vegetarians." Subsequent studies, both in the food and nutrition sciences and social sciences, confirmed and successfully applied this distinction, too (cf. Fox & Ward, 2008, Hoffman et al., 2013, Rothgerber 2014b, Ruby, 2012, Radnitz et al., 2015).¹ Jabs et al. (1998b) distinguished between people who were concerned about animal rights and welfare (ethical vegetarians), and people who do not eat meat due to the associated health risks of meat consumption (health vegetarians). Hoffman et al. (2013) also included weight loss as a possible motivation for health vegetarians; as well as motivations relating to religious, spiritual beliefs or the environment for ethical vegetarians.

¹ Inherent disgust of meat and its properties is another possible motive found in literature (Beardsworth & Keil, 1991, Fessler et al., 2003). Since this is a matter of sensual dislike rather than a cognitive decision against eating meat, the motive will be neglected in this study.

When asked about their opinions and values on various topics, ethical and health vegetarians often differ considerably in their answers - although their dietary choices might look completely alike to outsiders. For example, ethical vegetarians, based on their moral values, find meat more disgusting compared to health vegetarians (Rozin, Markwith & Stoess, 1997, Fessler et al., 2003). Hamilton (2006) concluded that ethical vegetarians are more likely to be concerned about inherently violent actions such as nuclear weapons, capital punishment, and blood sports like hunting or boxing. Ethical vegetarians tend to follow a humanist world view, health vegetarians follow a more normative approach; confirming that one's identity as a vegetarian tends to influence other aspects of life, too (Lindeman & Sirelius, 2001). Rothgerber (2014a) found that ethical vegetarians have a higher regard of animals; they see similarities between human and animal emotions that health vegetarians might not. Concerning dietary strictness, ethical vegetarians show greater restriction and usually have been omitting meat from their diet longer than health vegetarians (Hoffman et al., 2013). However, health vegetarians are not less likely to stay true to their motive for dietary change: They eat more fruit and fewer sweets and watch better over their consumption of soy and vitamin supplements compared to ethical vegetarians (Radnitz et al., 2015). Moreover, middleaged vegetarians rather indicate health reasons, while younger vegetarians tend to be motivated by ethical reasons (Pribis, Pencak & Grajales, 2010).

Criticism of ethical-health distinction. This dichotomous, simplistic distinction between health and ethical vegetarians and their values has drawn criticism in recent years. Rosenfeld and Burrow (2017) advise to abandon the ethical-health distinction.

They cite as its disadvantages: its ambiguity, limited applicability to other possible motives, its lack in measuring motivational strength, and its sensitivity to historical and sociocultural changes (e.g. rise of the environmental motive over the last years). However, they concede that the ethical-health distinction is the simplest method to divide vegetarians into two groups. Moreover, numerous studies applying this ethical-health distinction were able to identify significant differences between the two groups indicating that there is reason to support its dichotomous simplicity: "These findings support ethical and health dimensions as valid constructs that afford divergent internalizations and externalizations of one's vegetarian identity" (Rosenfeld & Burrow, 2017, p. 459).

Vegans are not vegetarians. So far, vegetarians' attitudes, their values and motives have received more attention in research than vegans who sit on the stricter end of the dietary spectrum. Often veganism is defined as a form of "strict vegetarianism" - without clearly distinguishing between the two - in many of the above-mentioned studies. However, it would be wrong to consider vegetarians and vegans as one homogenous group. First, vegans do significantly differ from vegetarians since they omit meat and all animal products. Second, the few studies that did clearly distinguish between them found divergent values. Vegans are more often motivated by ethical concerns than vegetarians (Rothgerber, 2014a). Compared to vegetarians, ethical and health vegans are even more concerned with the impact of their food choices, animal welfare and protection of the planet (Ruby, 2008). The existence of supportive social networks is of even more importance to vegans in particular (Cherry, 2006).

Vegans, even more so than vegetarians, have to face and manage negative confrontations with omnivores in daily life. In order to successfully handle these tense situations, vegans might employ "face-saving" techniques such as avoiding confrontations altogether, waiting for an appropriate time to bring up the topic of their diet, focusing on health benefits instead of ideology, or leading by example and demonstrating how easy it is to maintain this lifestyle (Greenebaum, 2012b). Romo and Donovan-Kicken (2012) even compared vegetarians and vegans to disabled people in their communication strategies of making omnivores feel more at ease in their presence. Whenever vegetarians or vegans are addressed about their diet, they often have a plan prepared of how to discuss their personal choice to avoid meat and/or animal products, they might minimize others' discomfort by stressing that it is a personal choice, resort to stretch the truth or excuse people for eating meat.

Vegan motivations. The "value-laden" distinction between ethical and health vegetarians has been applied to vegans as well (Greenebaum, 2012a, p. 130). The debate between health and ethical motives might be even fought more fiercely in the vegan community than in the vegetarian one.² For health vegans, the benefits of a plant-based diet are revelatory. A health vegan in Fox and Ward's qualitative study, reports: "When you switch to a healthy diet from an unhealthy diet you get this sudden spring in your

² In the vegan community, there exists a debate about terminology: Health vegans are said to only follow a plant-based diet, while a "truly" vegan diet is defined by its origins in a holistic lifestyle that also omits animal products from other parts of life (Thomson, 2017). In this thesis: whenever a *plant-based*, *vegan diet* is mentioned, it covers and addresses both underlying motivations. Otherwise, the terms *plant-based diet* or *ethical vegan diet* are used to mark a clear distinction.

step, so to speak. Every day that I wake up, I feel so much healthier and alive than I used to" (2008, p. 425).

Ethical vegans, however, think of their ethical vegan diet not simply as a diet but a lifestyle, a lifestyle that health vegans, in their opinion, do not share. An ethical vegan framed it this way: "Now, about health vegans. I certainly don't jump for joy just because 'one less animal is killed'. If people only care about themselves and their health, that shows they are selfish and egoistical..." (Fox & Ward, 2008, p. 425). For "pure" vegans, "plant-based eaters" are just people who happen to follow the same diet as a vegan (Greenebaum, 2012a, p. 135). They actively construct an "in-group" of ethical vegans and an "out-group" of health vegans to validate their own authentic identity (ibd., 2012a, p. 132). In his study on hostility between ethical/health vegetarians/vegans, Rothgerber (2014b) summarized that "one's motives for abstaining from meat often play a larger role in this type of intergroup perceptions than one's dietary practices" (p. e96457). However, next to ethical vegans with strong opinions about what is allowed and forbidden in an ethical vegan diet, there are also voices who reason that living a 100 percent vegan life is often simply not possible, but "the pursuit of purity, not the actual achievement, is that which authenticates one's identity as a vegan" (Greenebaum, 2012a, p. 142).

Why: Internal and External Motivations Along the Dietary Spectrum

Up to this point, the full range of the dietary spectrum from omnivores to strict ethical vegans has been discussed, as well as people's reasons to eat meat or to forgo it. In the question "Why?", the fundamental factor to consciously decide against the commonly accepted Western diet is found. A person's motivation based on their convictions is the "integral element of each individual's vegetarian identity, providing an energizing force that recurrently fosters a sense of purpose in one's food choices" (Rosenfeld & Burrow, 2017, p. 460). It was found to be the single factor with the most profound impact on a person's conscious decision to transition towards a vegetarian diet (Ruby, 2012). In their years of maintaining a vegetarian diet, people often experience a learning curve that can influence and change their motivation over time, a motive might be added or dropped. Nevertheless, people can usually identify one main motivation that has brought them to the diet and as the fuel that keeps them going (Beardsworth & Keil, 1991, 1992, Fox & Ward, 2008).

So far, the ethical-health distinction between motivations of vegetarians/vegans has been introduced, followed by its critique regarding its over-simplification of various motives (Rosenfeld & Burrow, 2017). Janssen et al. (2016), too, argue that many consumers follow a vegan diet based on more than just one motive. In their study, they found five motives: animal-related motives, self-related motives, environment-related motives, motives related to social justice, and critique of capitalism and the food industry. Indeed, the original "for the animals" versus "for my health" separation of values looks somewhat outdated due to the rise in awareness of the environmental impact of meat consumption (Wirz et al., 2017) and the increasing critique of the mass livestock industry in Germany (Schießl, 2017).

Therefore, Wiemer (2018) followed Fox and Ward's (2008) slightly different distinction. Rather than drawing the line between specific values about animal rights and health benefits, Fox and Ward broaden the frames to stress the different foci in this

distinction. Participants might focus internally on their own needs and benefits when they think about why they should change their diet (i.e., personal health, weight loss, mental well-being). Other participants might decide to focus externally on the needs and benefits of others and the outside world (i.e., animal welfare, environmental impact). Thereby, externally geared motivation also includes motives related to social justice (focus on equal treatment of other people) as well as critique of capitalism and the food industry (focus on societal structures in general).

How: Bringing about Change Towards a Plant-Based, Vegan Diet

Animals, society, the planet – all would benefit to some degree if more people were to adapt a plant-based, vegan diet. And, indeed, more and more people have become aware of how their daily food choices have a crucial impact on their own health, so that "there is now a window of opportunity for health promoters to design campaigns to try to shift eating behaviors" (Corrin & Papadopoulos, 2017, p. 46).

The next logical step is to question how this change in dietary behavior can effectively be brought about; how people can be persuaded of the positive benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet that might lead to a positive shift in their intention which could lead to a change in behavior eventually. Wiemer (2018) approached this task by looking towards vegans who already have made this active decision at one point in their life. Here, two important components for a successful process of change present themselves: (a) the specific cue that made vegans consciously turn away from meat and animal products by (b) awakening or reinforcing a personal motive. **Cues to action.** The moment that a person becomes vegan is often initiated by what Beardsworth and Keil (1991) call a "conversion experience" which can happen in direct contact with animals on a farm, for example, but "sometimes occurred in a more indirect manner, arising out of mass media coverage" (p. 21). Reporting similar experiences, Guerin (2014) found that the vegan participants in her qualitative study "became vegan after being exposed to information about animal agriculture. [...] Every vegan reported conducting their own research, predominantly citing alternative media sources such as research activist group webpages, documentaries, and non-profit awareness campaigns" (p. 16f.). Some of them reported that such documentaries - because of their intensity and immediacy - immediately made them change their mind and behavior about their diet.

According to Rosenstock's *Health Belief Model* (1974), these persuading mass media messages can serve as a cue to action which is one of the variables that Rosenstock cites as a necessity to adopt a different health-related behavior. Those cues can take various forms - mass media messages being just one of many. Although all cues require a certain level of intensity depending on the perceived susceptibility and severity of the subject which they try to convey (Rosenstock, 1974). Other constructs of the Health Belief Model (e.g., perceived benefits and barriers) have been used to predict behavior change in general (Carpenter, 2010), dietary behavior in particular (Nejad, Wertheim & Greenwood, 2005, Arash et al., 2016), and even attitudes and perceptions towards vegetarian and plant-based, vegan diets (Corrin & Papadopoulos, 2017). However, cues to action have not received considerable attention over the last decades since their influence is generally perceived to be more difficult to measure (Rosenstock, 1974, Carpenter, 2010). Since people report lack of knowledge as one of the biggest perceived barriers to adopting a plant-based, vegan diet (Lea & Worsley, 2003a, Lea et al., 2006), these cues to action - in form of easily consumable mass media messages - might help people to overcome this barrier successfully and efficiently. Wiemer (2018) set out to examine this possibility.

Tailored communication. Veganism first and foremost describes a form of diet; and dietary behavior falls into the realm of health behavior. Thus, media messages intended to persuade people of the benefits of veganism can be regarded as health communication. This field of communication has received special attention in communication research do to its importance for a healthy and thriving society as well as its challenges in appropriately and effectively addressing its target audience (Hastall, 2011). Health messages communicate risks for the mental or physical health of people in potential target groups (ibd., 2011). They have to master the balance act of conveying necessary information about risks while not evoking too much fear or agitation in recipients. Two of the biggest challenges of health communication are to reach the target audience in the first place and, secondly, to close the gap between people's attitude about a risky health behavior and their actual enactment or elimination of it (ibd., 2011). Thus, persuasive health messages have to be highly effective in order to convince people to change their attitude and subsequently their behavior.

One way to increase their effectiveness is by tailoring messages. Tailored health communication messages are "intended to reach one specific person, are based on

information unique to that person, are related to the outcome of interest, and have been derived from an individual assessment" (Kreuter et al., 1999a). By matching message contents to an individual's information needs, framing them in a context that matters to a person, using special design elements that attract notice, and providing the information through channels of delivery that actually reach the intended audience, the message can more effectively capture the attention of the addressee since it is of personal relevance for him or her (Rimer & Kreuter, 2006). Thus,

if tailored messages enhance motivation and opportunity to process health information and deliver compelling new ideas (or reinforce existing ones) that are favorable toward a given health behavior, the resulting attitudes may be more accessible to that person and, in turn, have greater influence on behavior (ibd., 2006, p. 189).

Research on tailored health communication has proven its effects relating towards a variety of health issues, for example heart disease or cancer prevention (Burnkrant & Unnava, 1989, Kreuter, Strecher & Glassman, 1999b, Skinner et al., 2002, Steele-Moses et al., 2009). Campbell et al. (1999) found that the message is more effective when it comes from a trusted source. Kreuter et al. (2004) tested an effective channel of delivery by informing parents of newborns about vaccination deadlines by including them in a family calendar. Moreover, Stanczyk et al. (2016) found that video-based messages are more effective than text-based approaches; although this tendency only holds true for video-based messages that do not create a comprehension deficit and are relatively straightforward in their persuasion efforts (Chaiken & Eagly, 1976).

Although research indicates that tailored messages are more effective than nontailored, this does not always have to be case. Tailored health communication might offer individualization in certain behavior variables but cannot take into account factors such as situational context or cultural and personality factors that might also influence a person's ability to process the message (Kreuter et al., 2000). Despite a growing interest in tailored health communication due to its promises of high reach and high efficacy at the same time (Noar et al., 2011), "the optimal shape and contour of tailored communications are far from being decisively pinpointed" (Terre, 2011, p. 128).

Hence, Wiemer's (2018) experiment contributed to the growing body of research by examining yet another shape of tailored health communication: pro-vegan messages which contents are tailored to the addressee's personal motivation.

For Whom: Advocacy Journalism and NGO Media Campaigns

The results of Wiemer's (2018) study can provide relevant insights for two groups of communicators in today's media landscape: advocacy journalists and the producers of media campaigns for non-governmental organizations (NGO) who both have invested interests in informing and educating the public about the benefits of a plant-based, vegan life for one's personal health, animals in mass livestock farming, or the climate of our planet.

Advocacy journalism. The presence of advocacy in journalism is usually frowned upon as it negates one of the highest standards of journalism, objectivity. However, a journalistic piece can never be completely void of advocacy, since even simple daily editorial processes (selection of news-worthy topics, positioning of quotes, etc.) are subject to a certain degree of advocacy. Therefore, Fisher (2016) proposed a theory of continuum of advocacy in journalism ranging from overt displays in opinion columns, interpretive journalism, or peace journalism, to more subtle elements: "Depending on the wide range of macro, organizational, journalism production, source and personal factors, a story might contain subtle elements of advocacy or it might be a vehicle for an overt display of advocacy and difficult to distinguish from PR" (p. 723). These factors can include among others the political climate, the editorial orientation of the journalism organization or the type of media platform, the selection of sources, the level of trust between reporter and source, the significance of comments or pictures used, or age, education, beliefs and expertise of the reporter (ibd., 2016).

Based on these factors, recent journalistic trends in the U.S. mainstream media could be declassified as "objective journalism" and labeled as a version of advocacy journalism where "advocate-journalists are ubiquitous in news organizations that do not challenge basic premises of the current political-economic system, but unequivocally champion some of its central ideological underpinnings" (Waisbord, 2009, p. 373). In times like these, genuine advocacy journalists located in the alternative or left-leaning press face extreme difficulties to get their voices heard (Waisbord, 2009). Yet, the need for advocacy journalism persists for a variety of causes and silenced voices – and more than ever for environmental issues (Neuzil, 2008).

The threat of climate change started out as an issue that was championed by "green" advocate journalists in the environment beat. Over the last two decades, it has become public consensus for almost all governments in the world. In their powerful position as the fourth estate, journalists do not simply report on this processes of consensus forming; they actively shape and take part in it (Wade, 2011). "By choosing frames that facilitate consensus, journalists can engage in advocacy and still make claims to objectivity" as they have helped to build the consensus that they can then base their claim for objectivity on; in this influential position, "reporters can act much like activists" (ibd. 2011, pp. 1181-1182). They "collaborate with advocates, harmonize with opinion writers, and use their physical presence and access to newsprint to pressure the state" (p. 1166).

So far, the effects of our meat consumption on our personal health and the planet's climate have not reached a public consensus - although this issue has been in the public eye ever since the publication of the seminal UN report *Livestock's Long Shadow* in 2006 (Steinfeld et al., 2006). In recent years, the media have picked up on this lacking attention and had the "freedom to construct an issue as they like: actively making framing decisions, selecting sources and presenting the issue as controversial or not," and thereby, "journalists may play a role in creating the consensus that also conditions their reporting" (Wade, 2011, p. 1168). The German weekly magazine Der Spiegel dedicated three covers and cover stories in 2017 to our society's changing dietary habits in the face of climate change, cruel conditions in mass livestock farming, and increasing numbers of health issues related to bad nutrition (17-08, 17-12, 17-28). Hence, Spiegel journalists currently take an active part in shaping public consensus about these issues. This particular media outlet adopted an overarching tone that advises a reduction of one's meat consumption for one's health and the planet. But it dismisses "diets of restriction" such as vegetarianism or veganism as a form of decadent, pretentious "asceticism" in futile search for happiness. In the end, the gusto and pleasure we take in eating are all that

should matter (Amann & Schmundt, 2017). With this confrontational black-and-white discourse dominating German media coverage of alternative diet options digging ideological trenches (cf. Supp, 2016), pro-vegan advocacy journalism actively wants to counteract these tendencies.

Here, *Cowspiracy* and the other documentaries advocating for a plant-based, vegan lifestyle that Wiemer (2018) uses for her tailored intervention messages can be regarded as a overt version of advocacy journalism, peace journalism. Peace journalism is focused among other things on making conflicts transparent, giving voice to all parties, conveying empathy and understanding, creating a new understanding for the conflict, humanizing all sides, and exposing untruths and suffering on all sides. Moreover, peace journalists regard people to be in the position to foster their own peace as a result of an on-going commitment to nonviolence and creative new solutions (Galtung, 2008).

The discussed documentaries advocate for nonviolence towards animals and propose a plant-based, vegan solution that would positively affect our society's health and our planet. They see to make the existing conflict between meat consumption and exploitation of animals and the planet more transparent, expose the untruths of governmental agencies that have no interest in restricting the agricultural industry, and try to give voice to all involved parties – in this case the planet and animals in mass livestock farming who obviously cannot advocate for themselves. They do not settle on the more approachable solution of reduced meat consumption but appeal to the urgency of issues, such as rising numbers of obese people and rising sea levels. Lastly, they promote the potentially best solution in their eyes: a diet completely free of meat and

28

animal products. This form of peace journalism that reveals an inconvenient truth and suggests veganism as the solution stands in stark contrast to the generally dismissive mainstream media coverage of veganism in *Der Spiegel*, for example. Pro-vegan journalists will have to communicate their messages as effectively as possible in their pursuit to build a pro-vegan public consensus. This thesis will employ the results of Wiemer's (2018) study to suggest new, effective communication to advocate for veganism in news media.

NGO media campaigns. The plant-based, vegan movement is not only brought to the attention of the public by advocacy journalists but also by non-governmental organizations (NGOs) like PETA, ProVeg or Albert Schweitzer Stiftung für unsere Mitwelt. PETA, for example, has a long tradition in advocating for animal rights and against mass livestock farming from an ethical viewpoint, whereas organizations like ProVeg have also begun to incorporate a plant-based, health perspective into their communication in the last few years in order to comply with a rising interest of Western consumers in topics related to health and self-improvement.

In general, NGOs seek to educate the public and affect change for various conflicts and crises the world faces on a societal as well as governmental level. To promote their messages, they act as social marketers implementing "programs designed to influence the voluntary behavior of target groups in order to improve their personal welfare and that of the society to which they belong" (Gillespie & Hennessey, 2015, p. 360). Just like general marketing campaigns for products and services, social marketing campaigns of NGOs have professionalized and spread across the globe in the last decade, partly fueled by the rise of social media and its "many new possibilities for NGOs to advocate interests and to propagate institutional reforms that help implementing the interests they advocate" (Will & Pies, 2017, p. 1081).

A variety of NGO media campaigns have been analyzed for their contents and effectiveness. Research has covered NGO campaigns addressing environmental issues such as climate change, marine environment protection, or toxic chemicals produced in the fashion industry, for example. Success of these campaigns was more likely if the NGOs faced favorable political and policy conditions (Hall & Taplin, 2007). The importance of media exposure for these campaigns was stressed as global mass communication networks are likely to expand even more and improve across the globe (Richards & Heard, 2005). Finally, the dissemination of these campaigns was said to be more effective if certain groups of consumers already sympathetic to these issues are marketed towards first who can "thus attract the remaining "mainstream" consumers' attention" and "promote a rapid diffusion of their campaign in the market" (Grappi, Romani & Barbarossa, 2017, p. 1171)

Alone Laestadius et al. (2013, 2014, 2016) focused their research on the efforts of environmental NGOs to address meat consumption as a contributing factor to climate change and found that they have so far resorted to recommend only small changes, like a slight reduction in meat consumption (e.g., "Meatless Monday"). Environmental NGOs failed to establish dedicated pro-vegan campaigns as done by food-focused or animal protection NGOs. Although many NGOs encourage reduced meat consumption on their websites, active public education campaigns by environmental NGOs are non-existent (Laestadius et al., 2013). It appears that environmental NGOs see these active campaigns against meat consumption as intrusive towards such a private matter as one's diet and fear a negative feedback loop (ibd., 2014). However, they "must be willing to address the practices of everyday life in order to have a meaningful effect on climate change" (ibd., 2014, p. 39). Many NGOs chose mostly modest and socially acceptable messages with a wide positive appeal. Hence, these "findings raise questions about the willingness of many NGOs to challenge pre-existing value systems more generally" (ibd., 2016, p. 100). Next to a lack of message promotion and message consistency of environmental NGOs, it is further criticized that a mere promotion of decreased meat consumption and only modest changes to one's diet do not seem appropriate given the global, societal changes in nutrition and diet that are necessary to fight climate change: "there is some question about if modest change precludes greater changes" (ibd., 2013, p. 35).

As illustrated here, the literature on NGO media campaigns about effecting dietary change in the public towards a plant-based, vegan lifestyle is scarce, and existing research has indicated the various factors that hinder media campaigners in creating and disseminating pro-vegan messages. Therefore, the media work and media exposure of not only environmental NGOs but especially vegan-focused NGOs might benefit from the practical implications for their media campaigns derived from the results of Wiemer (2018).

31

Chapter 3: Theoretical Background

This chapter will explain the theoretical background that Wiemer (2018) based her experimental study on; before the study's design and results of the experiment will be discussed in the following chapter. Change in health behavior is a well-researched subject in health and social sciences with a variety of different theories applied to track and predict it (Armitage & Conner, 2000). The *Transtheoretical Model* (TTM) by Prochaska and DiClemente (1982) and the *Theory of Planned Behavior* (TPB) by Ajzen (1991) are two of the most popular social cognition models used in the study of dietary change. Moreover, the Transtheoretical Model is also the most commonly chosen theoretical basis for tailoring studies about dietary interventions (Noar et al., 2011). Aspects of both models served Wiemer (2018) as tools to measure the potential media effects of tailored intervention messages created from journalistic formats.

Stages of Change in the Transtheoretical Model

Independent from motivation or personal factors influencing one's behavior, changing habits and daily decisions will always be bound to be a process of change. Prochaska and DiClemente (1982) developed an integrated framework that allowed to determine and examine this process by taking into consideration major change theories and condensing them into their own model. Among other factors of behavioral change such as the balance of arguments, self-efficacy or temptation, they identified six Stages of Change that every person progresses through in their process of change (Prochaska, Johnson & Lee, 2009).
The six Stages of Change are: *precontemplation* (people are not thinking about or intending to take any action to change their behavior in the next six months), *contemplation* (people are planning to change their behavior in the next six months and are currently pondering the pro and cons), *preparation* (people are planning to take action in the next 30 days and usually already have a plan of action), *action* (people are actively engaged in changing their behavior or have done so in the past six months), *maintenance* (people are trying not to fall for temptation and to relapse into old behavior, people have maintained their behavior for more than six months), and *termination* (people are not likely to relapse and are fully confident in keeping with the new behavior) (ibd., 2009). Some of the critical assumptions of the model to take into consideration are that stages are always both stable and open to change and without directed interventions people would not change from one stage to the next since people lack "inherent motivation to progress through the stages of intentional change" (ibd., 2009, p. 64).

Stages of change in dietary behavior. The first applications of the TTM occurred in interventions for people with addictive behaviors and were used to describe and improve psychotherapy outcomes (Povey et al., 1999, Norcross, Krebs & Prochaska, 2011). Thus, one criticism of the TTM states that the six months and 30 days intervals of the stages of change (SOC) are arbitrary cut-off points and "that time-dependent methods of stage categorization are less appropriate for use with complex and varied health behaviours such as dietary change" (Povey et al., 1999).

However, several studies did successfully apply the SOC to dietary behavior change (Keller & Basler, 1999, Glanz et al., 1994, Lechner et al., 1998, Weller et al.,

2014). Prochaska et al. (1994) included dietary change among one of twelve, highly diverse behaviors (e.g., ranging from quitting cocaine to applying sunscreen) in a large-scale study and concluded that the basic construct of the TTM, the Stages of Change, are indeed generalizable across various behaviors and populations.

One difficulty that studies about the application of SOC to dietary change did face was the subjective assessment of the participants about their current stage. In general, people are inclined to perceive their diet as healthier than it actually is. Lechner et al. (1998) used two classification methods in the same study and found that "many subjects who were in maintenance based on the traditional classification method were classified in the precontemplation stage if the alternative classification method was used, since these subjects were unaware of their unfavourable dietary intake" (p. 1). An alternative to a participant's subjective assessment would be an algorithm based on various dietary behaviors that would classify participants afterwards (Keller & Basler, 1999). However, the subjective misperceptions of participants are only likely to occur if they have to selfassess dietary behaviors that are difficult to define and pinpoint (e.g., "eating a healthy diet" or "eating a low-fat diet") (Keller & Basler, 1999, Povey et al., 1999). If a clear definition of the dietary behavior can be provided to participants alongside their selfassessment, their classification into the SOC becomes more reliable (Keller & Basler, 1999, Maurischat, 2001, Weller et al., 2014). Plant-based eating can be clearly defined. Hence, the self-assessment of participants constituted a viable option for Wiemer (2018).

Stages of change to plant-based eating. Some people might only need a couple of weeks to eliminate all animal products from their refrigerator and to look up new

recipes. Others might struggle for months or years to cook without cheese and milk or to refuse a piece of meat at a dinner party. The process to eating completely plant-based and becoming a vegan might be a longer journey, with more setbacks and new attempts than other behavior changes. The SOC can be helpful to describe and track this particular journey (Mendes, 2013). Participants of a study conducted by Lea, Crawford and Worsley (2006) about consumer's readiness to adapt a plant-based diet could be easily placed in one of the stages. According to in which stage people find themselves, they have different needs when it comes to addressing benefits and barriers of the plant-based diet: "[A]wareness raising of the benefits of plant-based diets and the need for change is necessary for those in precontemplation, while those in contemplation and preparation need practical information, such as on the availability and preparation of healthier foods compared to high-energy, low-nutrient foods" (Lea et al., 2006, p. 350).

Wiemer (2018) employed the SOC to track and measure the potential progression of participants through the stages towards a plant-based, vegan diet before and after they have watched a tailored intervention message about its benefits.

The Theory of Planned Behavior

Wiemer (2018) called upon the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) by Ajzen

(1991) as a second fundament to her experiment. It assumes that:

behavioral, normative, and control beliefs provide the basis, respectively, for attitudes toward the behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control; that these three factors jointly account for a great deal of variance in behavioral intentions; and that intentions and perceived control can be used to predict actual behavior (ibd., 2012, p. 11).

Generally speaking, people hold certain beliefs about physical objects, other people, or

specific behaviors. These beliefs might be "biased by a variety of cognitive and

motivational processes, and may be based on invalid or selective information, be selfserving, or otherwise fail to correspond to reality" (Ajzen, 2012, 13). Whatever form these beliefs might take, they are the basis of a person's reasoning. This reasoning does not have to lead to perfectly "planned behavior" or be rational in any form, it can include deliberate as well as spontaneous decision makings (Fishbein & Ajzen, 2010). What does follow in a relatively predictive manner from these beliefs, though, are intentions and actual behavior patterns (Ajzen, 2012).

According to the TPB, beliefs about a potential outcome of a behavior influence one's positive or negative attitude toward a certain behavior. Second, beliefs about societal expectations from others and the motivation to comply with these expectations produce perceived social pressure (PSP). Third, a person's beliefs about their own capabilities and facilities to achieve or follow a certain behavior culminate in into the construct of perceived behavior control (PBC). In turn, attitude toward a behavior, PSP and PBC produce a person's intention to enact a certain behavior. Ajzen (2012) concluded that "as a general rule, the more favorable the attitude and subjective norm, and the greater the perceived control, the stronger is the person's intention to perform the behavior in question" (p. 18). This intention then successfully leads to behavior change if enough perceived behavioral control is given.

The framework of the TPB has been successfully validated in numerous studies on behavior change, including several causal intervention studies (Armitage & Conner, 2001, Webb & Sheeran, 2006). When interventions for behavior change are based on the TPB constructs, their invention messages or materials "target behavioral, normative, and control beliefs in an effort to produce positive intentions among participants who, prior to the intervention, either did not contemplate performing the behavior or were disinclined to do so" (Ajzen, 2012, p. 22).

Theory of planned behavior and dietary behaviors. The Theory of Planned Behavior has been applied to a range of health-related behaviors, among those dietary behaviors as well. Its constructs proved to be a reliable predictor of intentions and behavior patterns ranging from more restrictive eating patterns such as low-fat dieting (Armitage & Conner, 1999), dieting in general or fasting (Nejad et al., 2005) to more positive healthy eating intentions such as intentions to eat five portions of fruit and vegetable a day or more organic vegetables (Sparks & Shepherd, 1992, Povey et al., 2000, Conner, Norman & Bell, 2002). Moreover, the assumption that TPB is a "solid foundation for those seeking to increase adherence to health-promoting dietary patterns" (McDermott et al., 2015, p. 155) was validated in a causal experimental intervention study that designed TPB-based intervention messages to reduce the fat intake amongst hospital workers (Armitage & Conner, 2002). It showed that the specific targeting of salient beliefs improved attitudes towards healthy eating and lead to dietary changes.

While dieting and healthy eating patterns have long since been the focus of intervention research, veganism and plant-based eating have only recently been more closely examined by means of the TPB. Several studies confirm that the intention to follow a plant-based, vegan diet can be successfully predicted by the theory (Povey et al., 2001, Wyker & Davison, 2010, Diaz, 2017).

However, the importance of each predictor for behavioral changes in personal diets seems to vary. While one meta-analysis of several TPB studies about healthy eating patterns concluded that, next to intention, it was PBC that was closest associated with change in behavior (McDermott et al., 2015), another meta-analysis found attitude to be the most significant predictor (Riebl et al., 2015). Povey et al. (2001) found that perceived social pressure does not predict the intention to follow a vegetarian diet, only an omnivore, flexitarian, or vegan diet. Wyker and Davison (2010) summarized that attitude and perceived social pressure are overall more relevant to following a plant-based diet than perceived behavior control.

Yet, perceived social pressure is often only found to be a weak predictor of intention in general, partly attributed to its poor measurement (Armitage & Conner, 2001). Here, it is important to stress Fishbein and Ajzen's (2010) conceptualization between injunctive and descriptive norms that make up perceived social pressure: "Injunctive norms refer to perceptions concerning what should or ought to be done, (...) whereas descriptive norms refer to perceptions that others are or are not performing the behavior in question" (p. 131). Whereas the original concept of social pressure only related to injunctive norms, recent studies have taken care to include descriptive norms as well. They cite an increased validity of the whole theory if descriptive norms are included (Rivis & Sheeran, 2003). Hence, Wiemer (2018) chose to measure both injunctive and descriptive norms explicitly.

As no single predictor of the TPB theory has been cited as the most important one for a person's change in their dietary behavior, Wiemer (2018) included all predicting TPB constructs – intention, attitude, perceived social pressure (informed by injunctive and descriptive norms), and perceived behavioral control – as referents for potential media effects of tailored intervention messages about following a plant-based, vegan diet.

Excursus #1 – extending TPB to moral obligation. Ever since the conception of the Theory of Planned Behavior, Ajzen (1991) welcomed possible extensions that would increase the amount of accounted variance in various intentions and behaviors. If confronted with an ethically charged behavior, he allowed that "perceived moral obligation could add predictive power to the model" (ibd., 1991, p. 199). Moral norms that elicit a feeling of "responsibility to perform, or refuse to perform, a certain behavior" (ibd., 1991, p. 199) have explained additional variance in several studies examining unethical decision-making (Beck & Ajzen, 1991, Randall & Gibson, 1991, Conner & Armitage, 1998). More recently, Fishbein and Ajzen (2010) have framed moral norms as a possible addition to measuring perceived social pressure (next to injunctive and descriptive norms) and have called for formative research in this area.

The intention to follow a plant-based, vegan diet can as much be a decision founded in health-related reasons as in ethical considerations, as has been discussed already. Therefore, it might be assumed that moral obligation plays just as important a role as the other constructs of the TPB when it comes to changing dietary behavior towards a plant-based, vegan diet. Wiemer (2018) included the feeling of moral obligation as a factor that might be reinforced by a specifically tailored intervention message that addresses already existing motivations since these messages reinforce the notion that it is morally wrong to eat meat and that one should feel obligated to eat only food that makes one's body and conscience feel good.

Excursus #2 – psychological reactance. The construct of psychological reactance describes the motivational state of people who see their personal freedom disturbed when a previously free and independent behavior is eliminated by an authority or threatened to be eliminated. To reestablish one's personal freedom and choice, the content of the threatening message is rejected and viewed negatively as a way to challenge the authority (Miron & Brehm, 2006). Intervention messages – which can be perceived as threatening to one's personal freedom of choice – could therefore potentially elicit psychological reactance in people exposed to these messages.

Additionally, intervention messages can be laden with communication about injunctive norms – explaining why a certain behavior ought to or ought not to be observed. This can hold especially true for any kind of intervention messages regarding dietary changes. In fact, Stok (2014) found that "injunctive norms, when posed in a forceful manner, may induce reactance and may in fact have negative effects on (intended) healthy eating" (p. 123).

Since a plant-based, vegan diet is in its core a restrictive diet that cuts out foods which the typical Western diet naturally embraces, messages promoting and encouraging this self-imposed restriction can be perceived as a threat to one's personal freedom. Provegan intervention messages also communicate by default injunctive norms: reasons why someone ought not to eat meat or animal products and ought to focus on plant-based foods instead. Wiemer (2018) assumed that the strategy of tailoring intervention messages so they become personally relevant to their viewers could counter this potential threat of message rejection. If the content of the message is aligned with the personal motivation, people who not yet follow a plant-based, vegan diet should not feel as much need to challenge the authority and its imposed injunctive norms. Since the message appeals to values that they are already familiar and agree with, it might not be perceived as disturbing to their personal freedom as a message that stresses the opposing motivation.

Chapter 4: Overview of Study Design and Results

This chapter will provide an overview of Wiemer's study design and how she created the two tailored stimuli. Then, the demographic composition of the sample will be presented, followed by a brief discussion of the results based on her proposed hypotheses (cf. Wiemer (2018) for a more detailed presentation of the results).

Study Design

In order to test the proposed hypotheses, participants in Wiemer's (2018) study consumed a tailored or non-tailored intervention message (independent variable). The tailoring process was initiated by a quasi-experimental variable which asked for the participant to indicate the potential personal motivation to adapt a plant-based, vegan diet (internally or externally focused motivation). Through random assignment the participant then watched one of two differently tailored media messages. One focused on the internal benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet (i.e. improved personal health and well-being), the other discussed external benefits (i.e. protecting the environment and minimizing) animal suffering.

The material for the messages was taken from the four advocating documentaries: *Forks over Knives* (2011), *Cowspiracy* (2014), *Hope for All* (2016) and *What the Health* (2017). Both stimuli had roughly the same length of about seven minutes. In their length and look, they resembled short video messages that advocating journalists or pro-vegan NGOs might share on their social media channels. As positive intervention messages stressing the benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet, they were tailored to address either internal or external motivational benefits. Keeping the characteristics and values of omnivores and flexitarians discussed in Chapter 2.2 in mind, the stimuli sought to fill potential knowledge gaps which have been perceived as one of the main barriers to adapting a plant-based, vegan diet. While the first stimulus emphasized why an excessive meat attachment can be detriment to one's health, the second stimulus drew a connection between climate change and heavy meat consumption. Both tried to dispel feelings of "vegaphobia" by showcasing the benefits and reasoning of this (to omnivores foreign) diet.

Based off of the constructs of the Theory of Planned Behavior, both stimuli stressed positive attitudes about plant-based, vegan living and communicated positive injunctive and descriptive norms by giving personal examples or sharing insights of doctors, activists and former people involved in the industry. Overly graphic depictions of sick or dead animals inside slaughterhouses were excluded in the message about external benefits to guarantee that both messages had a similar level of empathic appeal. Although the messages did not provide "hands-on" tips and suggestions of how to make the change towards a plant-based, vegan diet, both messages emphasized that it absolutely is in the behavioral control of every viewer to make the change. They filled potential knowledge gaps by informing either about personal health benefits or the connection between climate change and heavy meat consumption. Both messages relied on doctors, experts and activists as trusted sources. They were straight-forward and direct in their persuasive efforts since they were video- and not text-based messages.

Wiemer's (2018) tailoring process created two conditions in total (tailored or non-tailored intervention) in which both motivations were represented. The experimental group (that received tailored media) included (1a) participants indicating a tendency for internal motives who were exposed to a media message that stressed internal benefits, and (1b) participants indicating a tendency for external motives who were exposed to a media message that stressed the diet's external benefits. Accordingly, the control group (that received non-tailored messages opposed to their own personal motivation) consisted of (2a) participants indicating a tendency for internal motives who were exposed to a media message that stressed external benefits, and (2b) participants indicating a tendency for external motives who were exposed to a media message that stressed the diet's internal benefits.

After the participants had seen one of the two media messages, Wiemer (2018) measured the following dependent variables: intention, attitude, perceived social pressure, perceived behavioral control, moral obligation, dissonance reducing strategies, reactance. Moreover, participants were asked to self-assess their personal stage in the Stages of Change of the TTM before and after their exposure to the media message for a pre-post comparison.

Participants

In total, 121 participants took part in Wiemer's study: 73 percent were female and 26 percent male; they were on average 32.5 years old. Twenty-nine percent of all participants had earned a bachelor's degree, 27 percent received their "Abitur" and another 17 percent their "Mittlere Reife." Asked about their daily dietary behavior, 35 percent indicated to be vegan, 30 percent considered themselves to be omnivores, and 17 percent to be "flexitarian." Only three participants were pescetarian and nine participants

declared to follow a version of a vegetarian diet (ovo-lacto-vegetarian, lacto-vegetarian, ovo-vegetarian). The intervention message that focused on internal motivations was watched 61 times, the intervention messaged that focused on external motivations was watched 60 times.

Initially, 70 of 121 participants reported no clear preference between internal or external motivations to change their diet, 16 leaned more towards internal motivations and 29 more towards external motivations. When forced to choose between one of the two motivations, 64 participants indicated internal motivations as their primary motivation and 67 participants cited external motivations. This resulted in 62 instances where participants watched a message tailored to their preferences and 59 instances in which the message was non-tailored and addressed the opposite motivation. The "matches" and "non-matches" were moreover roughly equally distributed between the two motivations: 28 "matches" watched the internally motivated intervention message, 34 "matches" watched the externally motivated message. Accordingly, 33 "non-matches" watched the internally motivated message although they indicated to be externally motivated, 26 "non-matches" watched the externally motivated message although they indicated to be internally motivated.

Results

The benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet for people's health and well-being, for animal welfare in mass livestock farming and for the future protection of the planet demonstrate that journalistic formats promoting plant-based eating and veganism have a right to exist. These media have the potential to reach a diverse dietary spectrum ranging from convinced omnivores attached to their daily meat to strict vegans striving to live a 100 percent "pure" life. Characteristics, values and views towards veganism naturally differ along this spectrum. A starting point to reach as many people on this wide spectrum as effectively as possible can be to specifically address their personal (internally or externally focused) motivation – as motivation is one of the main factors contributing to any kind of dietary change.

Hence, Wiemer (2018) assumed that video-based intervention messages promoting a plant-based, vegan diet which are tailored towards a recipient's internal or external motivation can act as more effective cues to action which positively affect a progress of change and predictors for behavior change than messages that address a different motivational preference. Moreover, potential cognitive dissonance strategies, psychological reactance and moral obligation were included in her experiment.

The evaluation of the data showed that the intervention messages promoting a plant-based, vegan diet and tailored to one's personal motivation did not serve as a transformative cue to action for a large majority of participants. Wiemer (2018) reported only eleven cases of 121 in which participants indicated a positive progress of change that was noticeable for their own subjective assessment. Otherwise, the intervention messages created for this study– tailored or not – overall did not initiate an immediate "conversion experience" (Beardsworth & Keil, 1991) or a wake-up call to change diets in the next 30 days. The TTM claims that successful processes of change also need the careful balancing of arguments, developing of self-efficacy and establishing of resistance to temptations (Prochaska et al., 2009). Wiemer (2018) concluded that a short video

message consumed online on a social media platform as part of a marketing campaign of an animal protection or environmental NGO does not seem able to replace all necessary components for a change process that concerns something as substantial and profound as one's daily food intake.

But even though the short messages did not set off "conversion experiences" in most cases, some media effects of these tailored messages based on a person's personal motivation were still traceable. An intervention message tailored to the personal motivation of its viewer had a more positive effect on her or his intention to follow a plant-based, vegan diet than a non-tailored intervention message. If someone motivated to eat healthy watched an intervention message addressing the benefits of a plant-based diet for one's overall health, she or he reported a higher intention to adapt this type of diet. Following Fishbein and Ajzen (2010), intention is the single most important predictor to change one's behavior. Thus, the positive shift in intention caused by the tailored intervention message makes future behavior change more likely. Although it has to be stressed that Wiemer (2018) did not measure actual behavioral change at a later point in her study design and therefore could not prove if actual change occurred in the participants.

According to the TPB, intention predicts behavioral change and is in turn predicted by attitude, perceived social pressure and perceived behavioral control. Attitude and perceived social pressure were not significantly affected by the reception of a tailored intervention message. No matter if someone saw an intervention message that was tailored or not-tailored to his personal motivation, his attitude (however negative or positive towards the subject beforehand) did not significantly change in a positive direction nor did watching the tailored message significantly increase the perception of social pressure from his peers or his doctor to become vegan.

However, Wiemer (2018) could report a positive effect on the predictor of perceived behavioral control after the reception of a tailored intervention message. If a participant saw a tailored intervention message that address her or his own personal motivations, she or he perceived to have more behavioral control over her own choice to do so. This positive shift in PBC is especially noteworthy since it is not only one of three predictors of intention for behavior change but can also serve as a proxy to measure actual behavioral control (Fishbein & Ajzen, 2010). Actual control is needed as a "catalyst" between people's intentions and their acting on these intentions. Especially for dietary change to a restrictive plant-based, vegan diet, one's perceived behavioral control comes very close to one's actual control; it does not require skills but rather personal willpower, and the environmental circumstances in Germany as the leading country in production of vegetarian and vegan food products are nearly ideal. Wiemer (2018) summarized that since the strategy of tailoring the message towards a person's motivation positively influenced participants' intention to become vegan and increased their perceived behavioral control (thereby also their actual control), this tailoring strategy seemed more likely to initiate change towards plant-based, vegan eating than a nontailored intervention message.

In addition, Wiemer (2018) could report a positive influence of the reception of a tailored intervention message on moral obligation. Participants of the study who watched

an intervention message tailored to their personal motivation reported significantly stronger feelings of moral obligation. That means, if someone motivated to eat healthy watched an intervention message addressing the benefits of a plant-based diet for one's overall health, she felt worse for eating animal products, felt like it went more against her personal principles, and it made her feel like she acted morally wrong – more so than someone who had watched a non-tailored message. Thus, by framing the message in a context that is relevant to that particular person, the tailored message successfully captured the attention of the addressee and positively influenced three of five personal cognitions - intention, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation - that can predict future behavior change.

Moreover, Wiemer (2018) measured the occurrence of reactance to analyze if tailored intervention messages can be a suitable option to lessen this psychological reaction. Participants who watched a tailored intervention message experienced slightly less reactance than participants who watched the message opposed to their own personal motivation. This difference in means was not statistically significant, however. It nonetheless indicated that a tailored message might slightly help to reduce the risk that people reject the contents of an openly persuasive intervention message.

Furthermore, Wiemer (2018) inquired if participants in the precontemplation stage indicated one or more dissonance reducing justification strategies after having watched a media message promoting a plant-based, vegan diet. People who did not plan to follow a plant-based, vegan diet in the next six months reported that they believed it is human destiny to eat meat ("Science proves that our teeth are made for it"), avoided thinking about what their meat consumption means for animals in mass livestock farming, dissociated with the act of eating a being that once lived, genuinely liked its taste, differentiated between pet animals and animals bred for consumption, saw humans as superior to animals, or gave health justifications ("Meat is part of a healthy diet"). Only the two strategies of denial ("Animals don't really suffer when being raised and killed for meat") and religious justification ("God intended for us to eat animals") were on average rejected as justifications for meat consumption.

Lastly, Wiemer (2018) was able to make some general observations across her sample: Women were more often externally motivated, men more often internally motivated. Young people below the age of 30 were more often externally motivated, and older people above the age of 50 more often concerned with internal motivations, i.e. their health. Moreover, the omnivores in her sample tended to be internally motivated. With regard to moral obligation, women and younger people reported a stronger sense of moral obligation concerning this subject than older people and men, validating Rothgerber (2013). In contrast to omnivores, flexitarians appeared to listen more closely to their conscience as they felt considerable more moral obligation to stop their meat consumption for a clear conscience. Thus, Wiemer's findings concurred with DeBacker and Hudders (2015) who found that flexitarians are more concerned about animal welfare (and thus its moral implications) than omnivores.

Focusing on vegetarians alone as people who are already "on the verge" to being vegan and therefore might be more receptive of pro-vegan messages, externally motivated vegetarians had more intention to follow a plant-based, vegan diet, perceived more social pressure and felt stronger moral obligation to not consume meat than internally motivated vegetarians. Yet, internally motivated vegetarians perceived to feel slightly more in control about their dietary behavior choices. Wiemer's results confirmed previous studies about differences between health and ethical vegetarians (Pribis et al., 2010, Hofman et al., 2013, Rothgerber, 2013). Moreover, Wiemer (2018) found that vegans alone (no matter which motivation they indicated) showed an overall very strong intention to follow this diet, a strongly positive attitude towards this lifestyle and felt very much in control of their behavioral choices.

Chapter 5: Practical Implications for Communicators

Wiemer (2018) already discussed what her results could mean for intervention campaigns in general and how they could inform a potential decision by intervention campaigners to invest in tailored media massages as a means to initiate action towards change in their addressees. Based on her general discussion, this chapter will delve deeper and elaborate on practical implications for communicators in today's media landscape.

From Health Campaigns to Media Advocacy

If practical implications for journalists and NGO campaigners are to be derived from Wiemer (2018), the process of creating intervention campaigns for the health sector (where the research of tailored communication is primarily based) has to be first transferred to the field of advocacy journalism and NGO communication strategies. Interventions in the health sector are designed to convince people to change detrimental lifestyles and behaviors, e.g., smoking, physical inactivity, eating unhealthy or too much food. In their traditional form, they are conducted as school-based programs, through mass media campaigns or at regularly frequented "points of contact" in a community prone to the specific detrimental behavior. As an advancement of this more general distribution, tailored intervention campaigns seek to individualize this communication by approaching narrow target groups or even single individuals with a persuasive message personally tailored to their needs across a range of variables: e.g., information needs, relevant context, design elements, channels of delivery (Rimer & Kreuter, 2006).

Traditional intervention campaigns are often conducted by public health departments; sponsored by the government they often have the means to contact and reach a wider audience. Successful health intervention campaigns such as the "Truth" campaign in the early 2000s in the United States accounted for 22 percent of the overall nationwide eight percent decline in youth smoking (Farrelly et al., 2005). In Germany, three years after the nationwide anti-alcohol campaign for youths "Alkohol? Kenn dein Limit!" was initiated, the number of young people who binge drink once a month had declined from 20.4 to 15.2 percent (BZgA & PKV, 2012). In a meta-analysis, Wakefield, Loken and Hornik (2010) reviewed the effects of health intervention campaigns in mass media published from 1998 onwards and concluded that these campaigns do, in fact, affect direct and indirect positive changes across large populations. Contributors to these positive outcomes can be multi-staged interventions, access to key services and products, or the creation of policies that support the behavior change. Moreover, "public relations or media advocacy campaigns that shape the treatment of a public health issue by news and entertainment media also represent a promising complementary strategy to conventional media campaigns" (ibd., 2010, p. 1268). Here, it is up to advocacy journalists and NGO campaigners to provide these complementary strategies.

However, journalists and NGOs advocating for veganism cannot rely on largescale government campaigns, they have to find different communication approaches. Provegan journalists try to expose the conflict between meat consumption and exploitation of animals and the planet, reveal the half-truths of governmental agencies that have no interest in restricting the agricultural industry, and try to give voice to all involved parties. They do so in their position as reporters who research, speak to sources, collect information and tell their stories to an audience. Their jobs rely on the utilization of mass media so that their news can be heard. However, traditional mass media (newspapers, radio, and TV) still prefer to broadcast a more or less objective version of journalism. Therefore, advocacy journalists who seek to intervene by offering new, less traditional viewpoints and disclosing previously unknown facts often focus on publishing on online communication channels (e.g. utopia.de) or present their reporting in long-form documentaries as an informational entertainment format (e.g. *Cowspiracy*, etc.).

Pro-vegan NGOs communicate primarily online nowadays, too. In order to educate the public and affect change, they launch their own versions of intervention campaigns on their websites and spread them across their social media channels. NGOs realize the potential that social media holds with its "many new possibilities for NGOs to advocate interests and to propagate institutional reforms that help implementing the interests they advocate" (Will & Pies, 2017, p. 1081). In addition, personal campaigns in the streets or attention-seeking, public "stunts" are part of their communication strategies. This type of "buzz marketing" manages word of mouth. Although it can appear subversive or disruptive, NGOs engage in this kind of marketing because it is an inexpensive strategy that does not require buying expensive ad space or promotions. Because of its extraordinary or shocking value, it attracts attention not only from the public but also from potential donors and, maybe most importantly, the traditional mass media who report on these incidents and thus create even more publicity (Gillespie & Hennessey, 2015).

Suggested Actions for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners

Wiemer (2018) showed that the communication strategy of tailoring the media message in an intervention campaign towards a person's motivation positively influenced the addressees' intention to become vegan, increased their perceived behavioral control and made them feel more morally obligated to change something about their current eating habits.

For advocacy journalists, this implies that it is imperative to know for which audience they write. This, of course, is taught in every fundamental journalism course but holds especially true for tailored persuasive communication. In their goal to form a new public consensus (Wade, 2011) about veganism, pro-vegan journalists have to know what their audience cares about first and foremost, and then adapt their persuasive writing accordingly. Their decision on how to adapt their writing so that it is tailored to their readers' interest or motivation can partly be made based on the media outlet which one works for or is asked to contribute to. A pro-vegan journalist covering the opening of the first fully vegan kindergarten in Germany will frame the story differently in his report in *Eltern* than in a blog post for PETA. Since the (presumably mostly omnivore) readers of *Eltern* would be more concerned about the well-being and adequate nutrition of their children in such a kindergarten, the journalist would be advised to tailor his writing to these concerns by stressing the health benefits of the colorful and balanced lunch that will be provided as well as the additional employment of a nutritionist specifically for the kindergarten. In contrast, readers of the PETA blog who might raise their children as vegetarians based on their considerations for animal rights could be convinced to enroll

their kids in the new kindergarten based on the journalist's remarks on how the kindergarten teachers will avoid zoo visits.

For NGO media campaigns, the tailoring of campaign messages towards the addressee's personal motivation can improve their appeal, too. One of the most decisive factors that hinder media campaigners from creating and disseminating pro-vegan messages is the fear that overtly anti-meat and pro-vegan messages are perceived as too intrusive and thereby create a negative feedback loop (Laestadius et al., 2014). Accordingly, many NGOs choose mostly modest and socially acceptable messages with a wide positive appeal.

However, the findings of Wiemer (2018) suggest that a wide positive appeal should rather be neglected for a more specifically tailored addressing if NGO campaigners hope to positively affect intention, PBC and moral obligation as three indicators for future behavior change. NGO campaigners committed to educating the public about the benefits of veganism would be advised to create messages that focus either on their addressees' internal or external motivations instead of choosing widely appealing messages. These messages then should be specifically disseminated to certain groups of the public who are already interested or sympathetic to that specific issue.

In practice, this tailoring process is often already partly decided by the cause that the NGO is advocating for. Naturally, environmental NGOs like the WWF distribute messages that focus on external motivations, health-oriented NGOs like the Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine highlight personal benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet. Especially on social media channels, NGOs often already address a suited audience for whom these messages were tailored since people typically choose to follow these organizations on social media because they are interested in their actions.

To reach people beyond the audience of their direct social media followers, these NGOs should then seek to spread their content in groups or forums that are also dedicated to their common cause - either online or offline. For example, campaigners of the Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine could try to share their specifically tailored messages with people going through cancer treatment, either by contacting support groups online or distributing leaflets in chemotherapy clinics (if access is granted).

Another option for NGOs would be to collaborate with bloggers that cultivate a specific image (health, food or "green" bloggers). As a recent example of an organization-blogger collaboration, the Whale and Dolphin Conservation invited several "green" bloggers that write about topics of sustainability to a workshop about the growing threat of plastic in our oceans and then to a whale watching trip on the Baltic Sea in order to raise awareness for the endangered porpoises. The bloggers incorporated the content and facts provided by the NGO in their own blogposts, brought a personal perspective to it and reached a larger audience that might not have been familiar with the organization beforehand (Marjanovic, 2017). At the same time, this larger audience is already prone to be interested in content about sustainability because they are readers of these "green" blogs. True to Laestadius et al. (2013), the Whale and Dolphin Conservation as an environmental NGO shies away from media campaigns promoting veganism as a solution to lessen the threat of oceanic wildlife (such as whales and

dolphins which are caught as by-catch in the fish and seafood industry). If they were to do so, they could have used their blogger collaborations as another channel to distribute their externally tailored media content (e.g., "plant-based, vegan diets as a way to protect whales and dolphins") which would in turn have matched with the external motivations of the readers of these sustainability blogs.

In contrast to NGOs with a clear environment or animal rights profile, there are also NGOs that promote veganism in general as a solution to various societal problems. However, they usually do not have a clear preference of either internal or external motives and resort to a wider, general approach, too (e.g., proVeg). These NGOs might want to take away from Wiemer's (2018) results that their mission of affecting change in the larger society can be more successful if they decide to invest in the dissemination of tailored messages to more specified target groups, even if this comes along with increased efforts and costs. For example, proVeg sends out weekly newsletters to people who signed up for it on their website. Next to asking about a person's first and last name as well as their email address they could include an inquiry after that person's primary motivation. Based on these data, the proVeg campaigners could tailor their weekly newsletter (that usually covers around four or five different topics) by arranging the content in an agenda that would cater to the addresse's motivation (e.g., health or animal/environmental or social justice topics first). The additional programming efforts and costs that this small adjustment entails would certainly be justified; if it meant that recipients of the newsletter would see more personalized topics in the headline of the newsletter, would therefore be more inclined to browse through it which in turn could

lead to increased intention, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation to test out the newest recipe at the end of the newsletter.

Further Learnings for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners

Wiemer (2018) also found that the two other predictors for intention - attitude towards veganism and perceived social pressure - were not significantly affected by tailored intervention messages. She elaborated that a positive attitude about veganism and its benefits might be first and foremost developed when this diet is tried and tested personally – and not necessarily by exposure to a short video message found online when scrolling through social media, as part of a news report, or newsletter. In practice, this means that NGOs also need to invest in more creative, hands-on campaign strategies to truly affect positive changes in attitudes.

The charity "Veganuary," which launched in the UK in 2014, might be a good template for other pro-vegan NGOs in that regard. It is "dedicated to changing public attitudes, while providing information and practical support required to make the transition to veganism as easy and enjoyable as possible," and it is "the support offered to answer *How to go vegan* that truly sets Veganuary apart" (Veganuary, 2018). With the beginning of each new year in January, it calls upon people to "pledge" to only eat plantbased for the duration of that month, thereby appealing to people's New Year resolutions and their generally increased motivation for a fresh start at that time of year. Next to a variety of resources and links, the website of the campaign offers a "Vegan Starter Kit" with lists of vegan products, nutritional information, local vegan social groups, tips for eating out, and recipes and baking guides. The yearly campaign with rising numbers of

participants is credited with the steady increase of vegans in the UK in general (McGregor, 2018).

Campaigns of NGOs "must be willing to address the practices of everyday life in order to have a meaningful effect" (Laestadius et al., 2014, p. 39). Veganuary's campaign tries to initiate change in one particular practice of everyday life, eating, and tries to make this change as easy and as convenient as possible. In doing so, they are more effective in changing attitudes long term since this designated vegan "trial phase" shows the benefits of veganism in everyday life, rather than just talking about them in an informational video. Next to virtually binding their participants to this trial phase and offering continued support, slightly tailored intervention content addressing the individual issues of animal welfare, health, environment and nutrition is offered on the website. The ongoing success of this yearly campaign might very well be rooted in this mix of information supply and committing people to trying something new at the "risk" of seeing their attitudes about veganism change.

Perceived social pressure was neither significantly influenced by the reception of tailored intervention messages. Wiemer (2018) argued that this overall low level of social pressure in the participants of her study originates in the overall low level of social pressure to be vegan in Germany. While smokers are more commonly frowned upon and urged to quit by family members or society at large, not even two percent of Germans are vegan and frown upon meat consumption respectively. The chances that a person perceives social pressure to become vegan are thus very slim; since society at large has yet to accept a large number of vegans as the "new normal".

Advocating journalists and pro-vegan NGOs want to change this – and are uniquely equipped to do so. Advocacy journalism can actively shape and take part in the process of consensus forming (Wade, 2011). They might "collaborate with advocates, harmonize with opinion writers, and use their physical presence and access to newsprint to pressure the state" (ibd., 2011, p. 1166). With the means of the Internet as a vehicle for nationwide and global communication, it has never been easier for advocating journalists to create or find a platform for their message and extend its reach (i.e. through websites like utopia.de or vegan-news.de). Once these platforms have found their footing online and begin to stick out from the mass of online content that is put up daily, it often does not take long for traditional news media to base their own coverage on this free online content. Advocates for veganism currently find themselves in this particular stage of the process of consensus forming: extensive TV reports air on public broadcasting channels (e.g., "Esstrend Vegan" on WDR) and special interest magazines for consumer protection dedicate whole issues to vegan food products (e.g., ÖKO-Test, 05/2018). Over the last few years, increased outspokenness from pro-vegan journalists, their presence online and also increasingly in the traditional mass media have contributed and continue to contribute to shape a public consensus that is increasingly accepting and accommodating of vegans in society (Kreutz, 2017).

Likewise, NGOs have a chance to take part in this process of consensus-forming. Their social marketing campaigns are more likely to initiate a domino reaction if they are first marketed towards people who are already open-minded towards the cause, who "thus attract the remaining "mainstream" consumers' attention" and "promote a rapid

diffusion of their campaign in the market" (Grappi, Romani & Barbarossa, 2017, p. 1171). However, it is especially difficult to attract the "mainstream" consumers' attention for a subject if they show no interest in it because it is not tangent to their lives. Wiemer (2018) has come across this problem in the recruitment of participants for her study. Although she wanted to test the effect of the two tailored stimuli primarily on nonvegans, the recruitment posts of the study appealed first and foremost to a large number of vegans who are, of course, by nature more aware of and interested in a study that examined media messages' influence on a person's decision to become vegan. Omnivores, in contrast, usually do not question their choice to eat meat, they naturally hold more sceptic attitudes towards eating habits that are opposed to their own, and often do not want to invest the time and effort that is needed to resolve the barrier of their lack of information about vegetarianism or veganism (Povey et al., 2001, Lea et al., 2006). Also, some omnivores might harbor feelings of "vegaphobia" (Cole & Morgan, 2011). All of these characteristics lower the chances that omnivores are willing to engage with anything that relates to the subject.

Just like Wiemer faced difficulties to recruit staunch omnivores for her study, NGOs will be challenged to attract their attention to any media campaigns. Thus, instead of targeting the mainstream directly, a diffusion of their campaigns starting with people who are already inclined towards less meat consumption could create a more effective ripple effect. Pro-vegan NGOs are likely to come across open ears when they gear their communication strategies towards vegetarians and flexitarians first. Vegetarians already share similar motivations with vegans, and (in many cases) vegetarianism is used as a stepping stone to eventual veganism. In contrast to omnivores, flexitarians are already aware of the consequences of their meat consumption and have decided to take the first step to reduce their consumption. And although they do not identify to be in an in-group with vegetarians or veganism (Rothgerber, 2015b), their increased awareness for the health or ethical benefits of a meat-reduced diet makes their willingness to engage with NGO initiatives such as the "Veganuary" trial month more likely.

If journalists and NGO media campaigns can achieve to establish a public consensus that regards veganism not as a current food trend but as a global societal shift in values that makes it as "natural" to be vegan as it would be to not smoke, perceived social pressure for those who still consume meat and animal products would increase accordingly. Continued advocacy in journalism and comprehensive NGO media campaigns are necessary to invoke in people the feeling that they should not miss out on something that an increasing number of vegans in their social circle already do and want them to do, too.

Additional Tailoring Options for Advocacy Journalists and NGO Campaigners

Lastly, Wiemer (2018) proposed additional tailoring options based on her findings of demographic differences and cognitive dissonance reducing strategies in omnivores. Messages might not be only tailored to a person's motivation but also to their demographics. According to Wiemer's (2018) findings, this implies: pro-vegan messages that address external motivations such as animal welfare and the protection of the planet with a strong moral appeal should be sent out to young women, whereas messages highlighting the benefits of a plant-based diet for one's heart health which do not especially focus on any moral implications would reach older men more successfully. In general, vegetarians with internal motivations would benefit from more attention since they indicated not as much intention to shift fully towards a plant-based, vegan diet as compared to externally motivated vegetarians.

Tailoring content based on motivations as well as demographics would lead to increased attention from the addressees to consume the message and could result in increased intention to change one's behavior. Of course, efforts and costs for journalists and NGOs would increase, too, with this additional personalization. These tailored messages could not be simply shared over general social media channels anymore with just a click of a button or randomly handed out as flyers in city centers. Journalists would need access to the demographics of their (online) readership, so they could tailor their reporting even further. Readership surveys could provide this kind of information. NGO campaigners could distribute their tailored content through online advertisements on social media, for example. Here, it is relatively easy to determine which demographic group will be exposed to which advertisement.

Another additional tailoring option could be to take an addressee's current Stage of Change into account. People in different stages have different informational and motivational needs (cp. Lea et al., 2006). People in the precontemplation stage might only have to be exposed to information about the harm that animal products can do to their coronary arteries or the conditions of animals in mass livestock farming to raise their awareness and consequently push them into the contemplation stage. On the other hand, people in the preparation stage are usually already familiar with this information. It would not suffice as a cue to action since their motivational needs are different. For them, resources such as detailed meal plans might make a progression to the action stage more likely.

Yet, apart from an experimental setting, there are not many practical options for journalists or NGO campaigners to assess an addressee's current SOC in order to then provide her or him with tailored content for her or his specific stage. Journalists and NGO campaigners can nonetheless work around these practical challenges. The desired progression through the SOC could successfully be helped along when people are exposed to longer or several, different cues and resources that allow people in different stages of the process to seek out the information or support they individually need (e.g., documentaries like *Cowspiracy* or campaigns like Veganuary).

As a third additional tailoring option, Wiemer (2018) proposed that pro-vegan content for omnivores could be tailored based on the justification strategy they offer when their meat consumption is questioned. Pro-vegan journalists and NGO campaigners in the pro-vegan movement want omnivores to abandon pro-meat justifications that make them sidestep their cognitive dissonance; they want omnivores to choose the other route that would dissolve their dissonance completely – behavior change. These strategies for "mental protection" are one of the biggest obstacles to overcome in any transition to veganism. Media messages that seek to "debunk" specific "myths" (cf. Veganuary campaign) that a person is holding onto could potentially address the very root of why that person has not changed their behavior yet. Thus, a tailored message that successfully and convincingly refutes the justification strategy of its addressee could indeed become the transformative moment that advocacy journalists and especially NGO campaigners seek to inspire. However, such highly individualized tailoring is almost impossible to conduct via mass media outlets. NGO campaigners, for example, would have to rely on face-to-face communication, e.g. personal campaigning in the streets.

Finally, it has to be stressed that all three additional tailoring strategies are potential recommendations based on Wiemer's (2018) explorative findings of demographic differences and cognitive dissonance justification strategies in omnivores. They have not been tested in an experimental setting yet and thus should only be regarded as suggestions for future actions.

Chapter 6: Criticism of Theoretical Approach

Wiemer (2018) already elaborated on the limitations of her study design. Hence, this critique of her study will take a step back to assess the larger picture and indicate how the study could have been based on a different theoretical background altogether. Wiemer could have either extended her study further to include not only behavioral intentions but also implementation intentions; or she could have approached dietary behavior as a social practice rather than a cognitive decision.

Successful Implementation of Behavior Change?

A common mistake that is made in developing intervention strategies is to assume that initiating behavior change is just about appealing to people's common sense: if a behavior is unhealthy and carries a great risk, then simply ask people to stop it. If it was that simple "we would all be able to make whatever changes we wanted to whenever we wanted, but we do not," instead lasting behavior change "requires sustained motivation and support" (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p.110).

Wiemer (2018) followed this appeal to common sense when she theorized that intervention messages should address behavioral intention and its predictors of attitude, perceived social pressure, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation – all of these are cognitions that people think about, make (common) sense of and might base their decisions on. She was able to prove that tailored messages successfully captured the attention of their addressees and positively influenced three of these five cognitions intention, perceived behavioral control, and moral obligation. However, in most cases these positive shifts had no transformative impact that persuaded participants then and there to transition to a plant-based, vegan diet in the immediate future of the next 30 days.

A possible explanation for this could be that the "sustained motivation and support" - that Kelly and Barker (2016) describe as essential for any successful intervention - are missing from Wiemer's (2018) study. An intervention should span two phases: it should (1) motivate people to perform the behavior but also (2) ensure that the behavior will be carried out afterwards. These are the two main objectives of any intervention seeking behavior change (Ajzen, 2012). To cover these two phases, an expanded intervention strategy that surpasses the reception of only one single stimulus is needed. Interventions based solely on the cognitive framework of the Theory of Planned Behavior can cover the first phase since they seek to establish behavioral intention based on formed attitude, perceived social pressure, and perceived behavioral control. However, for successful behavioral change, a second phase - the volitional phase in which people actually make specific plans and map out strategies to act out the behavior - is needed to form an implementation intention, next to the already mentioned behavioral intention (Gollwitzer, 1999).

These two intentions differ in their acknowledgement for detail: a behavior intention just states that the person intends to carry out the behavior ("I intend to follow a plant-based, vegan diet"), but an implementation intention would also specify where, when and how that specific behavior will be carried out (Gratton, Povey & Clark-Carter, 2007). The success of generating lasting behavior change after establishing implementation intentions in intervention settings has been proven for healthy eating
behaviors in various settings (Verplanken & Faes, 1999, Armitage 2004, Gratton et al., 2007).

Wiemer (2018) did not address the development of implementation intentions in her study. In future tailoring studies, this sensible addition might lend the intervention message more transformative power and would turn it into a true cue to action. For example, an intervention message tailored to one's personal internal or external motivation could be followed by materials that help to implement the behavior immediately in one's daily life. These materials in turn could be tailored to that person's motivation. If one's personal health is the motivating factor that might convince someone to start eating plant-based; supporting materials could take the form of detailed grocery lists or meal plans that focus on healthy and nutritionally-balanced meals and give directions for daily exercises at the same time. Thus, the tailored intervention message would positively influence the addressee's behavioral intention to adopt a plant-based diet (as found by Wiemer (2018)). Also, the additional tailored supporting materials would establish the intention to implement this behavior right away by giving her or him simple-to-follow instructions of how to eat plant-based (e.g., "I intend to eat a healthy, plant-based diet by preparing this healthy recipe of a bean burger and roasted veggies for lunch next Monday.").

Accordingly, tailored supporting materials for people who are externally motivated and want to stop animal suffering or reduce environmental pollution could benefit from detailed grocery lists and meal plans as supporting materials, too. But instead of focusing on explicitly healthy meals, they would rather provide additional motivation and information by indicating how much resources or animal lives are saved with each conscious vegan meal (e.g., "I intend to be vegan and be aware of my food choices by preparing this bean burger for lunch next Monday (instead of a steak). This will save 3,750 liters of water."). Thus, the package of a short video intervention message that conveys facts and additional (also tailored) supporting material would help to make people feel motivated to change their diet and would also ensure that they actually start the transition to a vegan diet since they received step-by-step instructions. Research that include implementation intentions for behavior change to healthy eating has already proven their potential success in practice. A study on behavior change towards plantbased, vegan eating initiated by these expanded interventions could bring further practical implications for intervention designers to the surface.

Health Behavior as a Social Practice?

As mentioned in the previous chapters, Wiemer (2018) chose to measure the effectiveness of the intervention message by conceptualizing dietary change with the help of two social cognition models - Prochaska's Stages of Change from the Transtheoretical Model and Ajzen's Theory of Planned Behavior. Both are based on the same underlying principle: "that the driving force of human behaviour is that people seek to maximise their pleasure or their gains and profits and to minimise their pains, losses and costs" (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p. 111). They assume that people (who are confronted with information that conveys the risks of one detriment behavior and the benefits of another healthier behavior) rationally strive towards the change that they would profit the most from. Many health interventions follow this approach of common sense and rational

deduction. Campaigns often include advice from doctors or experts in the field because "passing on expertise means passing on information," and it is assumed "that if we tell people the negative consequences of eating too much or exercising too little, they will change their behaviour accordingly" (ibd., 2016, p. 111).

Thereby, the above-mentioned social cognition models and typical intervention campaigns neglect the important caveat that humans do not always act rationally. Much rather, our behavior is an "interplay between habit, automatic responses to the immediate and wider environments, conscious choice and calculation, and is located in complex social environments and cultures" (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p. 110). While some actions can indeed be subject to a "rational calculus approach" in which people cognitively process information and then decide to act on the basis of an informed opinion (i.e. buying decisions); many other behavior practices are "ingrained in people's everyday lives and their routines and habits" and "embedded in social life, not one-off events triggered by information or prevented by remedying information deficits" (ibd., 2016, p. 122).

Conceptualizing health behaviors solely as a rational, cognitive decision - that is made anew every day after processing all relevant information that comes along with it omits the social and habitual aspects that inform these behaviors. This is why social practice theory highlights "the role these practices have in people's lives, the meanings they hold and the ways in which such actions serve to express and are formed by a person's situations and circumstances" (Holman & Borgstorm, 2016, p. 145). It acknowledges that the structure of society and the social interactions within this structure influence why people act out certain behaviors and are reluctant to adopt others (ibd., 2016).

Probably no other health behavior is so deeply ingrained in people's everyday lives and embedded in social life as one's eating habits. More than 40 years ago, the German Nutrition Society already stated that eating habits belong to the most stable of all human behaviors and that it would be a naive assumption to believe that a few arguments can convince someone of the fact that his way of eating and drinking is wrong and that he has to change his behavior to not risk his health (DGE, 1976). One has to think of a person's eating habit as a habit first and foremost; a habit that has formed over a lifetime of three meals a day, based on a foundation that is established and set in stone right from the start of life influenced by socio-economic factors and cultural and family-based conventions (Herde, 2007).

In focus groups with young mothers, Kelly & Barker (2016) heard from young mothers that "it is not that they do not know that they and their families should be eating a healthy diet with more fruit and vegetables. What they say is that a host of other things in life get in the way of them doing this" (p. 111). These "host of other things" are taken into consideration when dietary behavior is seen as a social practice, and not a cognitive choice. Applied to the practice of following a plant-based, vegan diet, a social practice perspective would therefore forgo one's cognitive intention to become vegan and rather examine a variety of social and socio-economic factors: if someone is able to afford to buy fresh produce which can often be more expensive than packaged meat (economic capital), if someone has the know-how to shop for and cook vegan meals (cultural

capital), and if someone lives in a setting where veganism is seen if not as the norm, at least completely accepted (social capital) (cf. Holman & Borgstorm, 2016).

Moreover, habitual practices - that need very little conscious engagement but are simply done like they have always been done - are important for one's sense of self (Kelly & Barker, 2016). People are who they are because of what they do on a regular basis. This notion rings especially true for the habitual practice of eating. People are who they are because of what they eat or not eat: "I eat therefore I am" (Amann & Schmundt, 2017). This makes the success of any intervention that seeks to alter this important aspect of one's own identity by providing rational arguments questionable at the least:

The idea that simply providing people with information to make them understand things and that once they have the facts they will change their sense of who and what they are, i.e. seek to be a different person to the one they are now, is specious in the extreme (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p. 112).

If one regards the meat consumption of omnivores not as a daily, rational choice but as a social habit that they have carried out with little conscious engagement all their lives, this might explain some of the limitations in Wiemer's (2018) study. First, it could explain why more than half of the participants were unable to indicate a preferred motivation for their hypothetical decision to follow a plant-based, vegan diet. Most people eat what they eat out of social habit, they do not connect specific intentions or motivations to their food choices. Moreover, people can eat whatever they want and do not have to limit their own choices, especially in affluent countries where one does not have to gather or hunt for food and convenient food options in restaurants, cafés or supermarkets can be found on every corner. Second, this social practice approach would discourage the distinct categorization of people into specific diets along the dietary spectrum; as it imposes certain qualitative and quantitative parameters on people that often do not apply to reality. There might be pescetarians who would never think to turn down the traditional meat loaf on Christmas, or vegans who still eat dairy products when they come across them and see that they would go to waste otherwise (Wiemer, 2018). Any normative categorization of diets oversimplifies fluid eating habits that allow room for exceptions, personal tastes or adjustments, traditions and rituals which have formed through years of practicing one's very own personal diet.

Third, this new perspective could explain why the assessment of a person's current Stage of Change was not "the perfect choice" as Wiemer (2018) put it. As a social cognition model, the SOC is concerned with cognitive intentions for behavior change. It measures this intention by asking people to indicate the time frame in which they do or do not "plan to" adopt a new behavior. However, the conceptualization of behavior as a social practice or habit forgoes the existence of any conscious intention by arguing that our behavior often works like "an automatic system which responds to environmental and social cues in a way that requires very little conscious engagement" (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p. 112). If eating habits usually do not follow intentional planning, a study about the potential influence of an intervention message on dietary change can not effectively measure its effects by inquiring about most likely non-existent plans for the future.

Fourth, Wiemer (2018) already pointed out that the constructs of the TPB have been proven to predict a certain amount of variance of behavior changes, although there could always exist unknown, untested variables with a stronger impact on people's behavior. According to social practice theory, social-economic factors, cultural or familybased conventions would be such unknown variables which are not taken into account by the original TPB.

In conclusion, if intervention campaigns were to take on the perspective of social practice theory, they would be set up to initiate change in habits by trying to shape societal circumstances or the perception of those. If "health behaviour is incredibly complex and cannot be reduced to individual psychological factors" (Holman & Borgstorm, 2016, p. 145), intervention designers should refrain from focusing their campaigns only on shifting cognitive-based intentions. Rather, interventions are called for that aim to generate and improve economic, cultural and social capital which have a stronger impact on behavioral practices engrained in people's everyday life.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

The world is in need of more vegans if we want to slow down climate change and global warming. Excessive meat consumption harms one's own health, makes animals unnecessarily suffer in mass livestock farming and pollutes the planet. If people learn about the benefits of a plant-based, vegan diet for their own health, animals suffering in livestock farming and the environment, they might be motivated to change their behavior. Wiemer (2018) sought to answer this question by examining if pro-vegan messages can more effectively reach people in their mission to persuade people to follow a plant-based, vegan diet when the content of these intervention messages is tailored.

Therefore, she discussed the different characteristics and values of people along the dietary spectrum and identified personal motivation as the main rationale for why people decide what to eat and what not. A well-established dichotomy divides vegetarians and vegans into "health" or "ethically" motivated people. Wiemer (2018) rephrased the dichotomy to group people based on their "internal" or "external" motivations to account for additional environmental or social justice concerns in the second category. She argued that intervention messages might act as transformative cues to action if they are tailored towards addressing either one of these two motivations, compared to the reception of an intervention message that addressed the exact opposite reasoning.

She measured the potential effect of the tailored intervention messages by means of a pre- and post-comparison of participant's Stage of Change as well as mean comparisons of participant's intention, attitude, perceived social pressure, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation. According to the Theory of Planned Behavior, these cognitions are predictors for an eventual behavioral change. Tailoring intervention messages towards a person's potential personal motivation to change their diet positively influenced their intention to adapt this diet, increased their perceived behavioral control, and elicited stronger feelings of moral obligation. However, Wiemer (2018) could only detect a progression through the Stages of Change in a handful of cases. Attitude, perceived social pressure and feelings of psychological reactance were not significantly influenced by the tailoring strategy either. Thus, she concluded that short intervention messages distributed via mass media in a format similar to those found on social media channels do not serve as immediate cues to action that persuade their viewers to make such a drastic change in their life as a new diet would constitute. Nevertheless, tailoring based on personal motivation did cause positive shifts in intention, perceived behavioral control and moral obligation that might lead to future behavioral change.

Advocating journalists and NGO media campaigners can learn from Wiemer's findings that the increased efforts and costs of tailoring messages can pay off by successfully attracting the attention of their audiences and causing a positive intentional shift in people to consider veganism – the goal of the persuasive communication employed by advocacy journalism and NGO campaigns. However, a broad change in attitudes might be better achieved by long-term campaigns that encourage people to test veganism for themselves in their daily life. In addition, perceived social pressure on omnivores can only be intensified if society at large is exposed to continued pro-vegan

77

advocacy journalism and NGO media campaigns; until following a plant-based, vegan diet is accepted as a normal and even socially desired behavior.

These practical recommendations for communication that seek to embed veganism more easily into everyday practices and societal structures make apparent: it does not suffice to regard behavior change as a cognitive choice that is solely made based upon rational intention- and opinion-forming. Instead, eating is a habitual behavior and social practice that is influenced by socio-economic factors that will either facilitate or hinder this daily routine. Ideally, pro-vegan intervention campaigns, advocacy journalism and NGO media campaigns will motivate behavioral intentions to eat plant-based and also provide resources that will strengthen people's implementation intentions by addressing and improving the socio-economic resources and structures that have made omnivore eating habits the simpler and easier practice so far.

Lastly, although it is tempting to get lost in trying to prove the powerful effect of mass media in general and persuasive journalism or media campaigns in particular, one should keep in mind that "it is still very difficult to say with any certainty how individual people will behave in any given situation" (Kelly & Barker, 2016, p. 113) and that human reactions and behaviors to outside (media) influences will always be as unique and surprising as humans themselves.

78

References

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50, 179-211.
- Kaiser, M. ÖKO-Test. Frankfurt. ÖKO-Test Verlag. 1985-2018. Print.
- Ajzen, I. (2012). Martin Fishbein's Legacy: The Reasoned Action Approach. ANNALS, AAPSS, 640, 11-27.
- Amann, S. & Schmundt, H. (2017, Jul 8). Ich esse, also bin ich. Spiegel, 28, 12-19.
- Andersen, K. & Kuhn, K. (2014). *Cowspiracy: The Sustainability Secret* [Motion picture]. United States: A.U.M. Films, First Spark Media.
- Andersen, K. & Kuhn, K. (2017). *What The Health* [Motion picture]. United States: A.U.M. Films, First Spark Media.
- Appleby, P.N., Thorogood, M., Mann, J.I. & Key, T.J.A. (1999). The Oxford Vegetarian Study: an overview. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *70*, 525–531.
- Arash, S., Javad, H., Shahrbanoo, D. S., Fatemeh, P., Maryam, M. & Sepahi, S. (2016). Applying the Health Belief Model Constructs to Determine Predictors of Dietary Behavior among High-School Students. *British Journal of Medicine & Medical Research*, 17(8). 1-7.
- Armitage, C.J. & Conner, M. (1999). The theory of planned behavior: Assessment of predictive validity and 'perceived control'. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 38, 35-54.
- Armitage, C.J. & Conner, M. (2000). Social cognition models and health behaviour: A structured review. *Psychology & Health*, 15(2), 173-189.
- Armitage, C.J. & Conner, M. (2001). Efficacy of the Theory of Planned Behaviour: A meta-analytic review. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 40, 471-499.
- Armitage, C.J. & Conner, M. (2002). Reducing fat intake: Interventions based on the Theory of Planned Behaviour. In D. Rutter & L. Quine (Eds.), *Changing health behaviour* (pp. 87–104). Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Armitage, C.J. (2004). Evidence that implementation intentions reduce dietary fat intake: A randomized trial. *Health Psychology*, 23, 319–323.
- Beardsworth, A.D. & Keil, E.T. (1991). Vegetarianism, Veganism, and Meat Avoidance: Recent Trends and Findings. British Food Journal, 93(4), 19-24.
- Beardsworth, A.D. & Keil, E.T. (1992). The vegetarian option. Varieties, conversions, motives and careers. *The Sociological Review*, 40(2), 253–293.
- Beck, L. & Ajzen, I. (1991). Predicting Dishonest Actions Using the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 25, 285-301.

Bethge, P., Glüsing, J. & Zand, B. (2017, Feb 18). Der Fake-Burger. Spiegel, 8, 86-95.

- Bilewicz, M., Imhoff, R. & Drogosz, M. (2011). The humanity of what we eat: Conceptions of human uniqueness among vegetarians and omnivores. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 41, 201–209.
- Browarnik, B. (2012). Attitudes Toward Male Vegetarians: Challenging Gender Norms Through Food Choices. *Psychology Honors Papers*. 25. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.conncoll.edu/psychhp/25
- Burnkrant, R.E. & Unnava, H.R. (1989). Self-referencing: A strategy for increasing processing of message content. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 15, 628–638.
- BZgA & PKV. (2012, Sep 17). Gemeinsame Pressemitteilung: Größte deutsche Kampagne zur Alkoholprävention zieht erste Bilanz. Retrieved from https://www.pkv.de/verband/engagement/praevention/alkoholkdl/pressemitteilungen-zum-thema/groesste-deutsche-kampagne-zuralkoholpraevention-zieht-bilanz.pdf
- Campbell, T.C. & Campbell, T.M. (2007). *The China study: the most comprehensive study of nutrition ever conducted and the startling implications for diet, weight loss and long term health.* Kent Town: Wakefield.
- Campbell, M.K., Bernhardt, J., Waldmiller, M., Jackson, B., Potenziani, D., Weathers, B., et al. (1999). Varying the message source in computer tailored nutrition education. *Patient Education Counseling*, 36(2), 159–167.
- Carpenter, C. J. (2010). A Meta-Analysis of the Effectiveness of Health Belief Model Variables in Predicting Behavior. *Health Communication*, 25, 661-669.
- Chaiken, S. & Eagly, A. H. (1976). Communication Modality as a Determinant of Message Persuasiveness and Message Comprehensibility. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 34(4), 605–614.
- Cherry, E. (2006). Veganism as a Cultural Movement: A Relational Approach. *Social Movement Studies*, 5(2), 155-170.
- Cole, M. & Morgan, K. (2011). Vegaphobia: derogatory discourses of veganism and the reproduction of speciesism in UK national newspapers. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 62(1), 134–153.
- Conner, M. & Armitage, C.J. (1998). Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Review and Avenues of Further Research. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(15), 1429-1464.
- Conner, M., Norman, P. & Bell, R. (2002). The Theory of Planned Behavior and Healthy Eating. *Health Psychology*, 21(2), 194-201.

- Corrin, T. & Papadopoulos, A. (2017). Understanding the attitudes and perceptions of vegetarian and plant-based diets to shape future health promotion programs. *Appetite*, 109, 40–47.
- Corry, J. & Fulkerson, L. (2011). *Forks Over Knives* [Motion picture]. United States: Monica Beach Media.
- De Backer, C.J.S. & Hudders, L. (2015). Meat morals: relationship between meat consumption consumer attitudes towards human and animal welfare and moral behavior. *Meat Science*, 99, 68-74.
- DGE (1976). Ernährungsbericht 1976. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung e.V. Retrieved from https://www.dge.de/fileadmin/public/doc/ws/dgeeb/EB-1976-Inhaltsverzeichnis.pdf
- DGE (2016, Dec). Ausgewählte Fragen und Antworten zur veganen Ernährung. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung e.V. Retrieved from https://www.dge.de/wissenschaft/weitere-publikationen/faqs/ausgewaehltefragen-und-antworten-zu-veganer-ernaehrung/#c2891
- Diaz, E. (2017). Becoming Vegan: The Theory of Planned Behavior and the Moderating Effect of Gender. *International Journal of Psychological and Behavioral Sciences*, 11(2).
- Dyett, P. A., Sabaté, J., Haddad, E., Rajaram, S. & Shavlik, D. (2013). Vegan lifestyle behaviors. An exploration of congruence with health-related beliefs and assessed health indices. *Appetite*, 67, 119–124.
- Farrelly, M.C., Davis, K.C., Haviland, M.L., Messeri, P. & Healton, C.G. (2005). Evidence of a Dose – Response Relationship Between "truth" Antismoking Ads and Youth Smoking Prevalence. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3), 425-431.
- Fessler, D.M.T., Arguello, A.P., Mekdara, J.M. & Macias, R. (2003). Disgust sensitivity and meat consumption: a test of an emotivist account of moral vegetarianism. *Appetite*, 41, 31-41.
- Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford: Stanford UP.
- Fishbein, M. & Ajzen, I. (2010). Predicting and Changing Behavior The Reasoned Action Approach. New York: Routledge.
- Fisher, C. (2016). The advocacy continuum: Towards a theory of advocacy in journalism. *Journalism*, 17(6), 711-726.
- Fleischatlas (2018, Jan). *Fleischatlas Daten und Fakten über Tiere als Nahrungsmittel*. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, Bund für Umwelt und Naturschutz Deutschland, Le Monde Diplomatique. Retrieved from https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/fleischatlas_2018_web.pdf?dimension1=d s_fleischatlas_2018

- French, D.P., Darker, C.D., Eves, F.F. & Sniehotta, F.F. (2013). The Systematic Development of a Brief Intervention to Increase Walking in the General Public Using an "Extended" Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 10, 940-948.
- Fox, N. & Ward, K. (2008). Health, Ethics and Environment: a Qualitative Study of Vegetarian Motivations. *Appetite*, 50(2–3), 422–429.
- Galtung, J. (2008). Peace journalism: What, why, who, how, when, where? In W. Kempf (Ed.), *The Peace Journalism Controversy* (pp. 19-33). Berlin: irena regener.
- Gerber, P.J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falcucci, A. & Tempio, G. (2013). *Tackling climate change through livestock A global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome.
- Gillespie, K. & Hennessey, H.D. (2015). *Global Marketing* (4th ed.). Routledge: New York.
- Glanz, K., Patterson, P.E., Kristal, A.R., DiClemente, C.C., Heimendinger, J., Linnan, L. & McLerran, D.F. (1994). Stages of Change in Adopting Healthy Diets: Fat, Fiber, and Correlates of Nutrient Intake. *Health Education Quarterly*, 21(4), 499-519.
- Gollwitzer, P.M. (1999). Implementation intentions Strong effects of simple plans. *American Psychologist*, 54, 493–503.
- Goodland, R. & Anhang, J. (2009, Nov). Livestock and Climate Change. World Watch. Retrieved from https://www.worldwatch.org/files/pdf/Livestock%20and%20Climate%20Change. pdf
- Graça, J., Oliveira, A. & Calheiros, M.M.(2015a). Meat, beyond the plate. Data-driven hypotheses for understanding consumer willingness to adopt a more plant-based diet. *Appetite*, 90, 80-90.
- Graça, J., Calheiros, M.M. & Oliveira, A. (2015b). Attached to meat? (Un)Willingness and intentions to adopt a more plant-based diet. *Appetite*, 95, 113–125.
- Grappi, S., Romani, S. & Barbarossa, C. (2017). Fashion without pollution: How consumers evaluate brands after an NGO campaign aimed at reducing toxic chemicals in the fashion industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 149, 1164-1173.
- Gratton, L., Povey, R. & Clark-Carter, D. (2007). Promoting children's fruit and vegetable consumption: Interventions using the Theory of Planned Behavior as a framework. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 12, 639-650.

- Greenebaum, J.B. (2012a). Veganism, Identity and the Quest for Authenticity. *Food, Culture & Society*, 15(1), 129-144.
- Greenebaum, J.B. (2012b). Managing Impressions: "Face-Saving" Strategies of Vegetarians and Vegans. *Humanity & Society*, 36 (4), 309-325.
- Guerin, K. (2014). Where's the Beef (With Vegans): A Qualitative Study of Vegan-Omnivore Conflict. Undergraduate Honors Thesis. Paper 109. Retrieved from http://scholar.colorado.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1108&context=honr_thes es
- Hall, N.L. & Taplin, R. (2007). Solar Festivals and Climate Bills: Comparing NGO Climate Change Campaigns in the UK and Australia. *Voluntas*, 18(4), 317-338.
- Hamilton, M. (2006). Eating death. Vegetarians, meat, and violence. *Food, Culture & Society*, 9(2), 155–177.
- Hastall, M.R. (2011). Kommunikation von Gesundheitsrisiken in Massenmedien. Der Einfluss von Information- und Rezipientenmerkmalen auf die Botschaftszuwendung und –Vermeidung. Baden-Baden: Nomos.
- Herde, A. (2007). *Nachhaltige Ernährung im Übergang zur Elternschaft*. Doctoral dissertation, TU Berlin. Retrieved from http://userpage.fu-berlin.de/~latex/Materialien/Herde_Adina.pdf
- Hoffman, S.R., Stallings, S.F., Bessinger, R.C. & Brooks, G.T. (2013). Differences between health and ethical vegetarians. Strength of conviction, nutrition knowledge, dietary restriction, and duration of adherence. *Appetite*, 65, 139-144.
- Holman, D. & Borgstrom, E. (2016). Applying social theory to understand health-related behaviours. *Med Humanit*, 42, 143-145.
- Jabs, J., Devine, C.M. & Sobal, J. (1998a). Maintaining vegetarian diets: Personal factors, social networks and environmental resources. *Journal of the Canadian Dietetic Association*, 59(4), 183–189.
- Jabs, J., Devine, C.M. & Sobal, J. (1998b). Model of the process of adopting vegetarian diets. Health vegetarians and ethical vegetarians. Journal of Nutrition Education, 30(4), 196–203.
- Janssen, M., Busch, C., Rödiger, M. & Hamm, U. (2016). Motives of consumers following a vegan diet and their attitudes towards animal agriculture. *Appetite*, 105, 643-651.
- Keller, S. & Basler, H.-D. (1999). Stufen der Verhaltensänderung für gesunde Ernährung
 Probleme und mögliche Lösungen. In S. Keller (Ed.), Motivation zur
 Verhaltensänderung: Das transtheoretische Modell in Forschung und Praxis (pp.
 159-174). Freiburg: Lambertus.

- Kelly, M.P. & Barker, M. (2016). Why is changing health-related behavior so difficult? *Public Health*, 136, 109-116.
- Kreuter, M.W., Bull, F.C., Clark, E.M. & Oswald, D.L. (1999a). Understanding how people process health information: A comparison of tailored and untailored weight loss materials. *Health Psychology*, 18, 487–494
- Kreuter, M.W., Strecher, V. J. & Glassman, B. (1999b). One Size Does Not Fit All: The Case for Tailoring Print Materials. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *21*, 276–283.
- Kreuter, M.W., Oswald, D.L., Bull, F.C. & Clark, E.M. (2000). Are tailored health education materials always more effective than non-tailored materials? *Health Education Research*, 15(3), 303-315.
- Kreuter, M.W., Caburnay, C.A., Chen, J. & Donlin, M. (2004). Effectiveness of individually tailored calendars in promoting childhood immunization in urban public health centers. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(1), 122–127.
- Kreutz, H. (2017, Oct 25). Vegan ist Trend Die Produktvielfalt nimmt zu. Bundeszentrum für Ernährung. Retrieved from https://www.bzfe.de/inhalt/veganist-trend-31169.html
- Laestadius, L.I., Neff, R.A., Barry, C.L. & Frattaroli, S. (2013). Meat consumption and climate change: the role of non-governmental organizations. *Climate Change*, 120, 25-38.
- Laestadius, L.I., Neff, R.A., Barry, C.L. & Frattaroli, S. (2014). "We don't tell people what to do": An examination of the factors influencing NGO decisions to campaign for reduced meat consumption in light of climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 29, 32-40.
- Laestadius, L.I., Neff, R.A., Barry, C.L. & Frattaroli, S. (2016). No Meat, Less Meat, or Better Meat: Understanding NGO Messaging Choices Intended to Alter Meat Consumption in Light of Climate Change. *Environmental Communication*, 10(1), 84-103.
- Lea, E. & Worsley, A. (2003a). Benefits and barriers to the consumption of a vegetarian diet in Australia. *Public Health Nutrition*, 6(5), 505–511.
- Lea, E. & Worsley, A. (2003b). The factors associated with the belief that vegetarian diets provide health benefits. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 12(3), 296–303.
- Lea, E., Crawford, D. & Worsley, A. (2006). Consumers' readiness to eat a plant-based diet. *European Journal of Cilinical Nutrition*, 60, 342–351.
- Lechner, L., Brug, J., De Vries, H., van Assema, P. & Mudde, A. (1998). Stages of change for fruit, vegetable and fat intake: consequences of misconception. *Health Education Research*, 13(1), 1-11.

- Lindeman, M. & Sirelius, M. (2001). Food choice ideologies: The modern manifestations of normative and humanist views of the world. *Appetite*, 37, 175-184.
- Macdiarmid, J.I., Douglas, F. & Campbell, J. (2016). Eating like there's no tomorrow: Public awareness of the environmental impact of food and reluctance to eat less meat as part of a sustainable diet. *Appetite*, 96, 487-493.
- Marjanovic, M. (2017, Oct 11). Rettet den Schweinswal mit whales.org an die Ostsee. *Heylilahey*. Retrieved from https://heylilahey.com/rettet-den-schweinswal-mitder-whale-and-dolphin-conservation-an-die-ostsee/
- Maurischat, C. (2001). Erfassung der "Stages of Change" im Transtheoretischen Modell Prochaska`s - eine Bestandsaufnahme. *Forschungsberichte des Psychologischen Instituts der Albert-Ludiwigs-Universität Freiburg i. Br.*
- Mäkiniemi, J.-P. & Vainio, A. (2013). Moral intensity and climate-friendly food choices. *Appetite*, 65, 54-61.
- McDermott, M.S., Oliver, M., Simnadis, T., Beck, E.J., Coltman, T., Iverson, D., Caputi, P. & Sharma, R. (2015). The Theory of Planned Behavior and dietary patterns: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 81, 150-156.
- McGregor, N. (2018, Feb 5). Veganuary 'helps boost vegan numbers in the UK'. Retrieved from http://www.bbc.com/news/newsbeat-42889756
- Mendes, E. (2013). An Application of the Transtheoretical Model to Becoming Vegan. Social Work in Public Health, 28, 142–149.
- Messinger, N. (2016). *Hope For All: Unsere Nahrung Unsere Hoffnung* [Motion picture]. Deutschland: Tiberius Film.
- Mintel (2017, Mar 24). Germany Hosted the Highest Number of Vegan Launches Worldwide in 2016. Retrieved from http://www.mintel.com/press-centre/foodand-drink/germany-hosted-the-highest-number-of-vegan-launches-worldwide-in-2016
- Miron, A. M. & Brehm, J. W. (2006). Reactance Theory 40 Years Later. *ZFSP*, 37(1), 3–12.
- Moore, W.J., McGrievy, M.E. & Turner-McGrievy, G.M. (2015). Dietary adherence and acceptability of five different diets, including vegan and vegetarian diets, for weight loss: The New DIETs study. *Eating Behaviors*, 19, 33-38.
- Munro, L. (2005). Strategies, Action Repertoires and DIY Activism in the Animal Rights Movement. *Social Movement Studies*, 4(1), 75–94.
- Nejad, L. M., Wertheim, E. H. & Greenwood, K. M. (2005). Comparison of the Health Belief Model and the Theory of Planned Behavior in the Prediction of Dieting and Fasting Behaviour. *E-Journal of Applied Psychology*, 1(1), 63-74.

- Neuzil, M. (2008). *The Environment and the Press From Adventure Writing to Advocacy*. Evanston: Northwestern UP.
- Noar, S.M., Harrington, N.G., Van Stee, S.K. & Aldrich, R.S. (2011). Tailored Health Communication to Change Lifestyle Behaviors. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(2), 112-122.
- Norcross, J.C., Krebs, P.M. & Prochaska, J.O. (2011). Stages of Change. *Journal of Clinical Psychology: In Session*, 67(2), 143-154.
- Nutriciously. (2016, Sep 15). *The 22 Best Vegan Documentaries to Inspire You*. Retrieved from https://nutriciously.com/best-vegan-documentaries/
- Pettersen, B.J., Anousheh, R., Fan, J., Jaceldo-Siegl, K. & Fraser, G. E. (2012).
 Vegetarian diets and blood pressure among white subjects: results from the Adventist Health Study-2 (AHS-2). *Public Health Nutrition*, 15(10), 1909–1916.
- Pimentel, D. & Pimentel, M. (2003). Sustainability of meat-based and plant-based diets and the environment. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78, 660–663.
- Povey, R., Conner, M., Sparks, P., James, R. & Shepherd, R. (1999). A critical examination of the application of the Transtheoretical Model's stages of change to dietary behaviours. *Health Education Research*, 14(5), 641-651.
- Povey, R., Conner, M., Sparks, P., James, R. & Shepherd, R. (2000). Healthy Eating: Examining Additive and Moderating Effects of Social Influence Variables. *Psychology & Health*, 14, 991-1006.
- Povey, R., Wellens, B. & Conner, M. (2001). Attitudes towards following meat, vegetarian and vegan diets: an examination of the role of ambivalence. *Appetite*, 37, 15–26.
- Pribis, P., Pencak, R.C. & Grajales, T. (2010). Beliefs and Attitudes toward Vegetarian Lifestyle across Generations. *Nutrients*, *2*, 523–532.
- Prochaska, J.O. & Di Clemente C.C. (1982). Transtheoretcial Therapy: Toward A More Integrative Model of Change. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 19 (3), 276-288.
- Prochaska, J.O., Velicer, W.F., Rossi, J.S., Goldstein, M.G., Marcus, B.H., Rakowski, W., Fiore, C., Harlow, L.L., Redding, C.A., Rosenbloom, D. & Rossi, S.R. (1994). Stages of Change and Decisional Balance for 12 Problem Behaviors. *Health Psychology*, 13(1), 39-46.
- Prochaska, J. O., Johnson, S. & Lee, P. (2009). The Transtheoretical Model of Bahvior Change. In S. A. Shumaker, J. K. Ockene, & K. A. Riekert (Eds.), *The Handbook* of *Health Behavior Change* (3rd ed.). New York: Springer.

- Randall, D.M. & Gibson, A.M. (1991). Ethical Decision Making in the Medical Profession: An Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 10(2), 111-122.
- Radnitz, C., Beezhold, B. & DiMatteo, J. (2015). Investigation of lifestyle choices of individuals following a vegan diet for health and ethical reasons. *Appetite*, 90, 31– 36.
- Riebl, S.K., Estabrooks, P.A., Dunsmore, J.C., Savla, J., Frisard, M.I., Dietrich, A.M., Peng, Y., Zhang, X. & Davy, B.M. (2015). A systematic literature review and meta-analysis: The Theory of Planned Behavior's application to understand and predict nutrition-related behaviors in youth. *Eating Behaviors*, 18, 160-178.
- Rivis, A. & Sheeran, P. (2003). Descriptive Norms as an Additional Predictor in the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Meta-Analysis. *Current Psychology: Developmental. Learning, Personality, Social*, 22(3), 218-233.
- Rimer, B. K. & Kreuter, M. W. (2006). Advancing Tailored Health Communication: A Persuasion and Message Effects Perspective. *Journal of Communication*, 56, 184– 201.
- Richards, J.P. & Heard, J. (2005). European Environmental NGOs: Issues, Resources and Strategies in Marine Campaigns. *Environmental Politics*, 14(1), 23-41.
- Romo, L.K. & Donovan-Kicken, E. (2012). "Actually, I Don't Eat Meat": A Multiple-Goals Perspective of Communication About Vegetarianism. *Communication Studies*, 63(4), 405-420.
- Rosenfeld, D.L. & Burrow, A.L. (2017). Vegetarian on purpose: Understanding the motivations of plant-based dieters. Appetite, 116, 456-463.
- Rosenstock, I.M. (1974). Historical Origins of the Health Belief Model. *Health Education Monographs*, 2(4), 328–335.
- Rothgerber, H. (2013). Real Men Don't Eat (Vegetable) Quiche: Masculinity and the Justification of Meat Consumption. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 14(4), 363–375.
- Rothgerber, H. (2014a). A comparison of attitudes toward meat and animals among strict and semi-vegetarians. *Appetite*, 72, 98-105.
- Rothgerber, H. (2014b). Horizontal hostility among non-meat eaters. *PLoS One*, 9, e96457.
- Rothgerber, H. (2014c). Efforts to overcome vegetarian-induced dissonance among meat eaters. *Appetite*, *79*, 32–41.
- Rothgerber, H. (2015a). Can you have your meat and eat it too? Conscientious omnivores, vegetarians, and adherence to diet. *Appetite*, 84, 196-203.

- Rothgerber, H. (2015b). Underlying differences between conscientious omnivores and vegetarians in the evaluation of meat and animals. *Appetite*, 87, 251-258.
- Rozin, P., Markwith, M. & Stoess, C. (1997). Moralization and becoming a vegetarian. The transformation of preferences into values and the recruitment of disgust. *Psychological Science*, 8(2), 67–73.
- Ruby, M.B. (2008). Of meat, morals, and masculinity: Factors underlying the consumption of non-human animals, and inferences about another's character. Master's thesis, University of British Columbia, Vancouver. Retrieved from http://circle.ubc.ca/handle/2429/ 1504.
- Ruby, M.B. (2012). Vegetarianism. A blossoming field of study. Appetite, 58, 141-150.
- Ruby, M.B. & Heine, S.J. (2011). Meat, morals, and masculinity. Appetite, 56, 447-450.
- Satija, A., Bhupathiraju, S.N., Rimm, E.B., Spiegelman, D., Chiuve, S.E., Borgi, L., et al. (2016). Plant-Based Dietary Patterns and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women: Results from Three Prospective Cohort Studies. *PLoS Med*, 13(6): e1002039.
- Satija, A., Bhupathiraju, S.N., Rimm, E.B., Spiegelman, D., Chiuve, S.E., Manson, J.E. et al. (2017) *Healthful and Unhealthful Plant-Based Diets and the Risk of Coronary Heart Diesease in U.S. Adults*. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 70(4), 411-22.
- Schießl, M. (2017, Jan 7). Zum Wohle der Tiere. Spiegel, 2, 68-71.
- Skinner, C.S., Schildkraut, J.M., Berry, D., Calingaert, B., Marcom, B.K., Sugarman, J., et al. (2002). Pre-counseling education materials for BRCA testing: Does tailoring make a difference? *Genetic Testing*, 6(2), 93–105.
- SKOPOS (2016, Nov 15). *1,3 Millionen Deutsche leben vegan*. Retrieved from https://www.skopos.de/news/13-millionen-deutsche-leben-vegan.html
- Sparks, P. & Shepherd, R. (1992). Self-Identity and the Theory of Planned Behavior: Assessing the Role of Identification with "Green Consumerism". Social Psychology Quarterly, 55(4), 388-399.
- Springmann, M., Godfray, H.C.J., Rayner, M. & Scarborough, P. (2016). Analysis and valuation of the health and climate change cobenefits of dietary change. *PNAS*, 113(15), 4146-4151.
- Stanczyk, N.E., de Vries, H., Candel, M.J.J.M., Muris, J. W. M. & Bolman, C.A.W. (2016). Effectiveness of video- versus text-based computer-tailored smoking cessation interventions among smokers after one year. *Preventive Medicine*, 82, 42–50.

- Steele-Moses, S.K., Russell, K.M., Kreuter, M.W., Monahan, P., Bourff, S. & Champion, V.L. (2009). Cultural Constructs, Stage of Change, and adherence to Mammography among low-income african american Women. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 20(1), 257–273.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M. & Haan, C. (2006). Livestock's Long Shadow: Environmental Issues and Options. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Organization (FAO), Rome.
- Stok, F.M. (2014). *Eating by the Norm: The Influence of Social Norms of Young People's Eating Behavior*. Ridderkerk: Ridderprint BV.
- Supp, B. (2016, Aug 27). Im Rausch des Verzichts. Spiegel, 35, 42-46.
- Tantamango-Bartley, Y., Jaceldo-Siegl, K., Fan, J. & Fraser, G.E. (2012). Vegetarian Diets and the Incidence of Cancer in a Low-Risk Population. *American Association for Cancer Research*.
- Terre, L. (2011). Optimizing Tailored Health Communications. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 5(2), 127-129.
- Thomas, M.A. (2016). Are vegans the same as vegetarians? The effect of diet on perceptions of masculinity. *Appetite*, 97, 79-86.
- Thomson, J.R. (2017, May 24). *There's A Big Difference Between A Plant-Based Diet and A Vegan Diet*. Huffington Post. Retrieved from https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/plant-based-diet-vs-vegan-diet_us_5923374fe4b034684b0ebff0
- Tonstad, S., Butler, T., Yan, R. & Fraser, G.E. (2009). Type of Vegetarian Diet, Body Weight, and Prevalence of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *32*(5), 791–796.
- Veganuary. (2018). About Veganuary. Retrieved from https://veganuary.com/about/
- Verplanken, B. & Faes, S. (1999). Good intentions, bad habits, and effects of forming implementation intentions on healthy eating. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 29, 591–604.
- Wade, L. (2011). Journalism, advocacy and the social construction of consensus. *Media, Culture & Society*, 33(8), 1166-1184.
- Waisbord, S. (2009). Advocacy Journalism in a Global Context. In K. Wahl-Jorgensen & T. Hanitzsch (Eds.), *The Handbook of Journalism Studies* (pp. 371-385). New York: Routledge.

- Wakefield, M.A., Loken, B. & Hornik, R.C. (2010). Use of mass media campaigns to change health behavior. *Lancet*, 376, 1261-71.
- Waldmann, A., Koschizke, J.W., Leitzmann, C. & Hahn, A. (2003). Dietary intakes and lifestyle factors of a vegan population in Germany: results from the German Vegan Study. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57, 947-955.
- Webb, T.L. & Sheeran, P. (2006). Does Changing Behavioral Intentions Engender Behavior Change? A Meta-Analysis of the Experimental Evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132(2), 249-268.
- Weller, K.E., Greene, G.W., Redding, C.A., Paiva, A.L., Lofgren, I., Nash, J.T. & Kobayashi, H. (2014). Development and Validation of Green Eating Behaviors, Stage of Change, Decisional Balance, and Self-Efficacy Scales in College Students. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 46 (5), 324-333.
- Wiemer, L. (2018). Impact of Tailored Messages to Change Towards a Plant-Based Diet: Media Effects and Behavioral Change in an Online Experiment. Unpublished master's thesis, Universität Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany.
- Will, M.G. & Pies, I. (2017). Discourse Failures and the NGO Sector: How Campaigning Can Undermind Advocacy. *Voluntas*, 28, 1078-1109.
- Williams, K.A. & Patel, H. (2017). *Healthy Plant-Based Diet. What Does it Really Mean?* Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 70(4), 423-5.
- Wirz, A., Kasperczyk, N. & Thomas, F. (2017). Ökologisierte Landwirtschaft in Deutschland – 2050. Abschlussbericht. Forschungsinstitut für biologischen Landbau. Retrieved from http://orgprints.org/31103/1/FiBL_GP_Landwirtschaft_2050.pdf
- Wyker, B.A. & Davison, K.K. (2010). Behavioral Change Theories Can Inform the Prediction of Young Adults' Adoption of a Plant-based Diet. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 42(3), 168–177.



Thesis and Dissertation Services